
3 

For the year ended  
31 July 2020

Annual Report 
and Financial 
Statements



3 

Page 4

Officers and advisors

Page 5

Court of Governors

Page 6

Summary of key statistics

Page 8

Vice-Chancellor’s foreword

Page 10

Strategic review

Page 28

Pride in our People

Page 32

Financial review

Page 40

Public benefit

Page 40

Governance review

Page 42

Corporate governance statement 
and statement of internal control

Page 50

Annual remuneration statement

Page 52

Statement of the Court of 
Governors’ responsibilities

Page 54

Independent auditor’s report  
to the Court of Governors

Page 56

Consolidated and University 
statement of comprehensive 
income and expenditure

Page 57

Consolidated and University 
statement of changes in reserves

Page 58

Consolidated and University 
balance sheet

Page 59

Consolidated cash flow statement

Page 60

Statement of principal  
accounting policies

Page 66

Notes to the accounts

Contents



4 

ar
ts

.a
c.

uk

Vice-Chancellor Sir Nigel Carrington

University Secretary  Stephen Marshall 
and Registrar 
  
Principal office 272 High Holborn, London WC1V 7EY
  
External auditor KPMG LLP Chartered Accountants 
 15 Canada Square, London E14 5GL
  
Internal auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 1 Embankment Place, London, WC2N 6RH
  
Bankers  Lloyds Bank Plc 

39 Threadneedle Street, London EC2R 8AU

  National Westminster Bank Plc 
Piccadilly and New Bond Street 
63 – 65 Piccadilly, London W1J 0AJ

  
Insurers UM Association Limited and Hasilwood Management Services Limited  
 4th Floor, 5 St Helen’s Place, London, EC3A 6AB

Officers  
and advisors



5 
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6 Colleges
3 Institutes

20,510 students
1,475 academic, research  

and technical staff
2,384 associate lecturers

1,642 support staff

15,340

44%

Undergraduate

United Kingdom

Further education

EU

1,548

15%

Number of students at the University by course level

Our student profile

Summary of 
key statistics

Postgraduate

3,622

Other international

41%
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937Architecture and  
Spatial Design

2,060Business and Management  
and Science

2,020Journalism, PR,  
Media and Publishing

2,237Communication  
and Graphic Design

1,929

1,316

1,154

978

812

647

481

435

380 

Number of students at
the University by subject

2,101Fine Art

FE and Preparation for HE

Animation, Interactive  
Film and Sound

Theatre, Screen and  
Performance Design

Illustration

Textiles and  
Materials

917Photography

3D Design and  
Product Design 

Accessories, Footwear  
and Jewellery

Curation and Culture

Postgraduate Teaching

65,430

11,635

Number of students  
taught by Awarding Body

2,106Fashion Design

Number of students 
taught by Short Courses
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After every major shock to our society, 
creativity resets our understanding of what 
it is to be human, social and fulfilled. All our 
hard experiences are translated through 
culture into our common life, often by  
UAL graduates. 

The creative industries and UAL itself 
became a university shortly before the great 
recession in 2008, the year in which I joined 
the institution as Vice-Chancellor. Since then, 
the global need for creativity has surged, and 
UAL’s fortunes have risen with those of the 
creative industries.

Art & Design is a restless discipline and 
we have reshaped ourselves over that 
time, with two-thirds of our courses now 
in contemporary fields, such as screen, 
performance and creative computing. Our 
initiatives in 2020 include the pilot year 
of UAL’s Decolonising Arts Institute and 
a renewed determination to become an 
anti-racist university, under the aegis of 
Naina Patel as our Race Champion. Other 
flagship projects include the new MA in 
Internet Equalities from UAL’s Creative 
Computing Institute and our exploration of 
public attitudes to difference with autistic 
and learning-disabled co-researchers at the 
Wellcome Trust.

We have reinforced our reputation as a world-
leading university, standing second in the 
world again for Art & Design in the 2020 QS 

World University Rankings by Subject. We 
have radically changed the ways in which 
we teach, in a year which reshaped every 
assumption about the nature of education. 
I am proud to pay tribute to the intense, 
collaborative efforts by our academics, 
technicians and professional staff, working 
in the most difficult circumstances, and 
the positive spirit in which our students 
approached the necessity of moving all of 
our learning online in March.

Alongside our achievements in tertiary 
education, lifelong learning remains one of 
our core commitments, further underlined by 
our launch of Future Creatives, an initiative 
which addresses the destruction of creative 
education in UK primary and secondary 
education through high-quality, co-curricular 
art classes for seven to seventeen year-olds. 

UAL is the top university in the UK for 
graduate entrepreneurs and almost a fifth 
of our graduates go on to run their own 
businesses. The creative industries are a 
challenging sector in which to operate, all the 
more so under lockdown, and we support 
this enterprising spirit at every stage. For 
example, UAL’s Business of Fashion, Textiles 
and Technology programme (supported by 
a major grant from the Arts and Humanities 
Research Council) recently awarded a £1.2 
million package of bespoke support to 10 
fashion businesses for sustainable growth 
and innovation. 

I am very glad to report that UAL remains 
well positioned to deal with the current 
year’s challenges. This will ensure that we 
can absorb the additional costs of dealing 
with the impact of the pandemic. Our 
continuing strong financial performance 
reflects excellent work across the University to 
protect the student experience by deep cuts 
to back-office costs and a pause in some 
non-essential projects. Our rapid and effective 
response to the financial dislocation of the 
pandemic in the year has prepared us well for 
the even more challenging year to come.

With some symmetry, I leave UAL in early 
2021 with another recession in view, and as 
the world comes to terms with pandemic, 
scarcity and climate emergency. These will 
require insight, ingenuity and resilience. But 
the strength and importance of our creative 
graduates lies in their ability to help the world 
confront and solve ever-greater problems at a 
human scale.

I therefore have every faith in the continued 
success of this formidable university, its 
staff and students. And I would like to thank 
everyone – staff, students and the wider UAL 
family – with whom I have had the pleasure to 
work over the last twelve years. 

Sir Nigel Carrington 
Vice-Chancellor

Vice-Chancellor’s  
foreword

I am very glad to report 
that UAL remains well 

positioned to deal with the 
current year’s challenges
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Overview 
UAL supplies the world’s need for creativity. 
We are among the most renowned 
international institutions in arts, design, 
fashion, media, communication and 
performing arts. Our critical mass and 
reputation enable us to take a leading role 
in the creative economy in the UK, Europe 
and beyond. We actively influence global 
cultural debates through the diversity and 
international reach of our staff, students and 
alumni.

As a creative university, our future is formed 
by the imagination, energy and skills of our 
staff, students, alumni, honoraries and the 
many academics from other institutions who 
work closely with us each year.

Our success is founded upon the specific 
histories, identities and achievements of our 
six constituent Colleges and three Institutes 
and their long engagement with creative, 
intellectual and professional life.

We are internationally regarded as the UK’s 
pre-eminent provider of undergraduate art 
and design education. In 2020 UAL retained 
our place at second in the world for Art 
and Design in the QS World Rankings by 
Subject. Demand for places is high, with 
31,487 applications for 5,303 undergraduate 
places in 2019/20. 

International students form 41% of our 
student body, with a further 15% drawn  
from EU27 countries.

Over 20,000 students study on 216 
accredited courses in art and design at 
UAL. These cover all levels of study, from 
foundation diplomas and undergraduate 
degrees through to postgraduate taught and 
research degrees. UAL Awarding Body had 
more than 60,000 students registered on its 
qualifications in 2019/20 at more than 200 
approved centres. 

UAL delivers an extensive range of non-
accredited short courses and study 
programmes to over 12,000 students in 
this academic year. UAL Language Centre 
ran the Pre-sessional Academic English 
programme for over 750 international 
students aiming to progress to UAL FE and 
degree study, as well as the English and 
Arts programme. Study Abroad welcomed 
over 480 students from 37 countries. UAL 
Short Courses Ltd taught 11,635 students 
on 1,386 courses, covering everything from 
fashion design to user experience.

UAL has agreements with 250 international 
institutions under which students study at 
UAL as part of exchange, Study Abroad, 
or through government sponsorship 
programmes. To date, UAL has been among 
the leading UK institutions for staff and 
student use of the Erasmus scheme which 
provides opportunities to study or work in 
another European country.

The appointment of James Purnell as 
President and Vice-Chancellor of University 
of the Arts London, was announced on 23 
October 2020. He will succeed Sir Nigel 
Carrington next year after his 12 years of 
service at the university.

Strategic  
review
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A year like
no other

Graduate Showcase
We partnered with IBM to develop the UAL Graduate Showcase: a global 
virtual platform bringing student work from UAL’s six Colleges together in 
one place for the first time and curated by theme alongside a high-level 
events programme. 

Left to right

‘RESONANCE’ by Naima Sutton
BA (Hons) Fine Art at Chelsea College of Arts

‘Grenouille’ by Julia Sasaki Hernanz
BA (Hons) Costume for Performance,  

London College of Fashion

Venni by Sienna Jacob 
BA (Hons) Photojournalism and Documentary 

Photography, London College of Communication
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It started in Hong Kong…
Serious political unrest in Hong Kong 
dominated the close of 2019 and saw us 
taking a series of measures to protect our 
community, including helping UAL students 
at our partner institutions, Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University and HKU SPACE to 
return safely to the UK. 

Then there was Brexit…
The UK left the EU on 1 January 2020 and 
we fought hard to get concrete information 
about what this means for our European 
staff and students. We ran workshops, 
we provided briefings and we encouraged 
anyone who was eligible to apply for the EU 
Settlement Scheme. 

A national strike was to 
follow…
The University and College Union at UAL 
voted to join national industrial action in 
February and March 2020. Although UAL 
had already implemented the above-inflation 
pay increase in August 2019, UCU had 
concerns at national level about contractual 
arrangements, workload and mental health 
as well as gender and ethnicity pay gaps. 
We restated our commitment to tackling 
these issues and worked hard to minimise 
disruption to our students and their learning. 

And along came the global 
pandemic…
As COVID-19 rapidly spread across the world, 
we were forced, along with the rest of society, 
to close our buildings. Our people were asked 
to stay at home and we moved everything 
online. 

As the pandemic began to take hold, our 
priority for 2019/20 became all about ensuring 
students could progress or complete their 
qualifications on time, in a way that their work 
and potential was recognised. This included 
the opportunity for graduating students to 
exhibit their work in an end-of-year digital 
showcase fitting of their talent and London’s 
position as a creative global hotspot. 

We adapted regulations and examination 
board processes and approved a ‘no 
detriment’ regulation to ensure graduating 
students received the right level of award. 
Students not planning to stay in their hall 
of residence due to lockdown were able to 
surrender their tenancy agreement early, 
meaning they did not pay rent for the summer 
term.

A small proportion of staff were placed on
furlough and we launched a UAL Employee 
Financial Assistance Scheme to support 
the welfare and wellbeing of staff during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The scheme offers 
short term assistance to employees who are 
experiencing financial hardship as a direct 
result of coronavirus. 

We created wellbeing hubs for staff and 
students including tips for home working or 
studying, taking care of your mental health, 
useful resources and advice for managers. 
University Services also adapted to new ways 
of working to keep the business running.

The UAL community really pulled together 
as we rose to these challenges and we 
thank all our staff for an incredible job 
working across teams, putting academic 
content online, delivering remote teaching, 
communicating substantial change and 
supporting our students in the huge transition 
to virtual learning. We recognise how tough 
this situation has been for everyone. It is 
particularly challenging for disabled students 
and colleagues, for those with caring 
responsibilities and anyone who has been 
shielding. Staff were given two additional days 
of annual leave as a thank you to recognise 
the exceptional team effort during recent 
months.

We have written to UAL’s constituency MPs to 
outline the good work UAL is doing to support 
the public COVID-19 effort – and as a result 
we secured support and advocacy from Neil 
Coyle MP (London College of Communication) 
and Stephen Hammond MP (Wimbledon 
College of Arts). We also wrote to all MPs and 
Lords to highlight the plight of international 
students trying to travel to the UK for the start 
of the academic year.



14 

ar
ts

.a
c.

uk

Staff and student 
lockdown initiatives

@peoples_masks and #CSMlovesNHS, 
initiatives encouraged the UAL community 
and the public to sew and distribute 
facemasks and non-surgical scrubs for 
frontline healthcare staff and those in need in 
the community.

London College of Fashion’s Social 
Responsibility team worked with designers 
and volunteers to develop and distribute 
masks for east London communities. The 
masks were manufactured at the Poplar 
Works Making for Change unit.

Masks 4 Za’atari on World Refugee 
Day June 2020 – A collaboration between 
London College of Fashion’s Professor Helen 
Storey, United Nations High Commissioner 
for Refugees (UNHCR) Designer in Residence 
since 2018 at the refugee camp, and Laura 
Baker, Technical Coordinator Print at Central 
Saint Martins, to create a collection of 11 
different designs. Shining a light on the 
refugee cause in a time of COVID-19, each 
one was inspired by images, paintings and 
embroideries from the artistic communities 
in the camp and incorporated elements of a 
decommissioned UNHCR tent.

We hosted talks on getting the creative 
industries through the pandemic such as 
London College of Fashion’s Fashion 
Means Business series, and a panel event 
with the Creative Industries Federation as part 
of the Graduate Showcase: Reimagining the 
Creative Industries.

We provided free courses and webinars for 
a wide range of audiences and ages. There 
were over 24,000 registrations to the UAL 

Creative Computing Institute’s free online 
courses with the Institute of Coding, and 
its After School Club brought 3D design, 
creative coding, machine learning and artist 
talks to schoolchildren and families during 
lockdown. Courses by UAL Short Course 
and UAL Future Creatives were also popular. 

UAL Social Design Institute collated a set 
of resources to help designers respond to the 
crisis, and launched a project engaging our 
community to visually imagine our post-Covid 
future society.

CovidxBLM Index/Cards was led by 
UAL Decolonising Arts Institute, to compile 
resources to enhance teaching and research 
across UAL, sharing views and voices of 
those disproportionately affected by Covid-19 
and Black Lives Matter.

Accommodation Services assembled food 
parcels to help students remaining in UAL 
halls of residence during lockdown. 

London College of Communication 
played a central role in the group of health, 
community and cultural organisations 
developing a draft Culture, Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for Southwark; and 
Creative Health: Arts for Health and Wellbeing 
report for the All-Party Parliamentary Group 
on Arts, Health and Wellbeing. 

MA Service Design students at London 
College of Communication worked on 
projects with Camden Council’s COVID-19 
emergency response, in collaboration  
with UAL’s Public Collaboration Lab, and 
Design Against Crime. They implemented 

a digital service for emergency food 
distribution and prototyped a new public 
engagement platform for Somers Town and 
St Pancras ward.

The Centre for Sustainable Fashion 
launched resources to support those who are 
rethinking their fashion sustainability teaching, 
business practice, studies or personal habits 
in these uncertain times.

We are also part of a number of other 
external research and knowledge exchange 
(KE) initiatives in response to the pandemic 
such as the Creative Society’s Lockdown 
// Down To Work initiative, focusing on 
young creatives’ response and needs 
around pandemic and careers; Design 
for Social Innovation and Sustainability 
(DESIS) projects on COVID-19 response 
and resilience; The Arts and Humanities 
Research Council’s ‘Boundless Creativity’ 
campaign to “explore and demonstrate 
the role of innovation, collaboration and 
participation in shaping cultural experiences 
in the current pandemic, and provide an 
evidence base for future growth.” The 
Culture Capital Exchange’s Knowledge 
exchange in the age of coronavirus 
pandemic includes a UAL case-study shared 
by the KE team. 

Staff creations have been showcased via 
our internal Maker’s Corner campaign 
throughout lockdown.

‘Our Community During Lockdown’ film 
celebrates our community, students and staff 
via a series of short film clips.

Left to right

Conduit by Sian Fan 
MA Fine Art

Central Saint Martins

Hush of Eve by Valeria Rocca
BA (Hons) Illustration

Camberwell College of Arts

Self Portrait by Glory Samjolly
BA (Hons) Fine Art: Painting,  
Wimbledon College of Arts
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And then we responded to the 
Black Lives Matter campaign…
By May, the fight for race equality drove 
people back out into the streets to highlight 
the violence and pain suffered by the black 
community following the murder of George 
Floyd in the USA. Black Lives Matter rang out 
across the world and we turned our attention 
to anti-racism at UAL. We saw this as a tragic 
and painful reminder of the urgent need for 
change and acknowledged that UAL needs to 
do better. 

We made a public statement committing 
to working with our black students, staff, 
graduates and partners to dismantle systemic 
racism within our university and the creative 
industries, recognising that progress so far 
has been too slow.

None of us will forget the 
2019/20 academic year. We have 
collectively responded to every 

eventuality and done all we 
can to stay strong as a creative 

community. 

Naina Patel, Director of Human Resources, 
was appointed UAL’s Race Champion and 
is leading our 10-point action plan for swift 
progress on this issue, working with staff, 
students and our community. These actions 
are provisional – a starting point for collective 
engagement. Ultimately, the contribution of 
staff and students will result in an effective 
social justice & anti-racism strategy and 
action plan for UAL. Our Executive Board has 
pledged to be accountable for the success of 
that strategy.

We’re not starting from scratch. Many 
colleagues have worked on social justice and 
race-related interventions for years. We aim to 
build on their initiatives, alongside ideas from 
staff, students, activists and Governors.
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1.
Delivering 
transformative 
education
Ensuring our students can reach their full potential by 
working in partnership with them to develop and deliver an 
education which is responsive, responsible, imaginative and 
inspirational.

2.
Developing 
world-leading 
research and 
enterprise
Creating and applying knowledge which develops our 
disciplines, makes a positive contribution to society and 
the economy, and generates new sources of income to 
support our academic ambition.

UAL focuses on four key strategic 
objectives, as set out in our strategy 
for 2015 – 22



20,510 students study  
on 216 courses

17 

3.
Communication 
and collaboration 
Placing UAL at the centre of the debate about the future of arts, 
design, fashion, media, communication and performing arts to 
improve the ways in which we engage with academic, cultural and 
business partners in the UK and across the world.

4.
Building an 
inspirational 
environment 
Having a world-class physical environment and underlying 
infrastructure to support our students and staff in their 
academic ambitions and increase our engagement with 
our wider communities.
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For the second year running, UAL has 
ranked 2nd for Art and Design in the QS 
University World Rankings by Subject 
2020 – affirming our status as the 
global leader of undergraduate creative 
education.

New measures will ensure that every student 
application is judged on potential, with 
targets to help us close our attainment gap 
by 2025. A Contextual Admissions Pilot for 
2019/20 involving 10 BA courses and 22 
staff is testing a model which can be rolled 
out University-wide in future years. It helps 
us analyse who applies to our courses, 
identifying where we need to improve access 
for the most disadvantaged students.
We introduced changes to the UAL 
Assessment Criteria, to reflect our arts 
context and our focus on enquiry-based 
approaches which put students at the centre 
of learning.

1,500 new students participated in Growth 
Mindsets sessions run by the UAL Teaching 
& Learning Exchange as part of the Big 
Welcome, our award-winning induction 
programme for new students. Part of our 
Creative Mindsets research, this explored 
strategies to overcome barriers to learning 
and teaching: particularly prejudice, bias 
and stereotyping. The Exchange launched 
the Interrogating Spaces podcast series 
focusing on inclusivity and attainment in 
Higher Education and published the second 
Decolonising the Arts Curriculum Zine 
with Arts SU, featuring the contributions of 
staff and students. Zine 1 has proved very 
popular with over 10,000 print copies in 
circulation.

The Teaching & Learning Fund awarded over 
£50,000 in funding for 21 projects across 
UAL. We received a wide range of projects 
from combining art and neuroscience 
to introducing techniques for resilience. 
The proposals addressed five different 
strands: Attainment; Curious, Creative 
Curricula; Digital Learning, Employability and 
Enterprise; and Environmental Sustainability.

Delivering 
transformative  
education

We leapt 230 
places to rank 

72nd in Stonewall’s
Workplace Equality 

Index

‘Who do we think we are?’ was a 
collaborative week-long event between staff 
and students in December, interrogating our 
institutional structures and working practices 
across themes of equality, social justice and 
criticality, ethics and compassion. 

Following our independent review of actor 
training in the context of UAL’s overall 
performance strategy, we will close acting 
course provision at Central Saint Martins 
after the current students have finished their 
studies.

We celebrated the life and work of former 
tutor Rodney Moorhouse and his wife, the 
well-known lawyer Tessa Moorhouse, in 
an exhibition of Rodney’s textile designs. 
Their generous bequest, the largest of its 
kind that UAL has ever received, will fund 
the Moorhouse Scholarships and Bursaries 
Programme, supporting a new generation of 
textile artists to study at UAL. We introduced 
a new programme of International Postgrad-
uate Scholarships alongside this. 

We leapt 230 places to rank 72nd in Stone-
wall’s Workplace Equality Index, placing UAL 
as one of the UK’s leading LGBT-inclusive 
employers. This stems from proactive initia-
tives including the creation of a network of 
role models who have completed Stone-
wall LGBQ+ Allies and Trans Allies training. 
We continued our public ‘Discrimination. 
#NeverOK’ campaign this year with our wall 
wrap on the exterior of London College of 
Communication.

We applaud UAL’s Chair of Court of Gover-
nors, David Isaac CBE, awarded a Lifetime 
Achievement award in the Chambers Diver-
sity & Inclusion Awards: Europe 2019 for his 
outstanding contribution to furthering the 
advancement of LGBT+ inclusion within the 
legal profession. David shared his inspira-
tional story as part of our campaign marking 
LGBT History Month 2020.

In a landmark year for issues of race 
equality, we shared our response to Black 
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Our sector position

—  #2 in the world for Art & Design:  
QS World University Rankings by  
Subject 2020

—  #72 in the UK – Stonewall Workplace 
Equality Index – up 230 places

—  #51 in the Complete University Guide 
2021 – up 10 places

—  Wimbledon College of Arts:  
Top 10 International Costume Design 
Schools 2020, Hollywood Reporter

New courses
 
—  BA Creative Technical Theatre,  

Wimbledon College of Arts  

—  BA Technical Arts for Theatre and Performance, 
Wimbledon College of Arts

—  BA Fashion Media Practice and Criticism,  
London College of Fashion

—  BA Fine Art: Computational Arts,  
Camberwell College of Arts 

—  MA Internet Equalities,  
Creative Computing Institute

Lives Matter and published a draft anti-
racism action plan which sets out to tackle 
structural inequality at UAL.

We launched Black Men on the Couch, a 
series which aims to transform views about 
mental health, gender politics, and race. The 
popular first event at Central Saint Martins 
in January featured Kwame Kweh-Armah, 
Artistic Director at the Young Vic and UAL’s 
former Chancellor, in discussion with Rotimi 
Akinsete, UAL Associate Dean of Students 
(Wellbeing & Inclusion). The discussion cov-
ered a topics including Kwame’s childhood 
experience of racism in Britain in the 1980s. 
The evening included a piece on race equality 
written and performed by Central Saint Mar-
tins drama student Aaron Cadogan.

For Mental Health Awareness Week, we intro-
duced our Kind Campus project in partner-
ship with Arts SU. This aims to develop a 
community spirit of generosity and helpful-
ness to increase everyone’s sense of belong-
ing and wellbeing. University Mental Health 
Day in March was extended to a week-long 
range of activities to promote student mental 
health and wellbeing. 

January to April marked our coordinated 
Survey Season for student responses to 
NSS, USS and PRES surveys. Despite the 
disruptions this academic year, our NSS 
headline score has remained stable but is 
still lower than target. As in previous years, 
there are differences in satisfaction rates and 
feedback across courses. Detailed analysis 
of this complex data will help us determine 
where we need to focus our efforts. 

We welcomed back Professor Roni Brown 
as Pro Vice-Chancellor and our new Head of 
London College of Fashion.
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This was the pilot year for several major 
academic initiatives. In October 2019, 
Dr Susan Pui San Lok was appointed 
Professor in Contemporary Art and 
Director of the new UAL Decolonising 
Arts Institute. The Decolonising 
the Archives Research Residency 
Programme launched at the same time. 

The Social Design Institute led by Professor 
Lucy Kimbell assembled resources for 
designers to respond to COVID-19 and 
launched #SketchPostCovidFuture; a 
hashtag, blog and academic project, 
capturing visual representations of how we 
want our post-Covid society to be.

UAL Creative Computing Institute had its 
public launch in March, in a year which 
included the launch of the new MA in 
Internet Equalities; and an ongoing inclusive 
research project with autistic and learning 
disabled co-researchers from Heart n Soul 
at the Wellcome Trust, exploring public 
attitudes to difference. 

To allow the ArtsTemps service to progress 
on the next stage of its journey, the service 
is being expanded as a separate recruitment 
agency – UAL ArtsTemps Ltd, with the aim 
of providing creative employment for UAL’s 
students and alumni. Work on this major 
undertaking has begun and it is hoped that 
the new business will launch on 1 April 
2021. 

We launched Future Creatives, a rapidly 
growing business venture which is part of 
UAL Short Courses Ltd. We aim to bring 
high-quality art classes to 7–17 year olds. 
Pilot areas include St Albans, Tonbridge 
and Cambridge and free online tasters have 
helped to keep children and teenagers 
inspired at home during lockdown. 

Thanks to AHRC funding, UAL’s Business 
of Fashion, Textiles and Technology 
programme awarded a £1.2 million 
package of bespoke support to 10 fashion 
businesses to support sustainable growth 
and innovation; with a second funding round 
announced soon after.

Research and 
enterprise
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We have started work on HEARD, a new 
UAL-wide research hub for health, arts and 
design. It brings together practitioners and 
theorists with a common interest in arts and 
design for healthcare and medicine. 
Photography and the Archive Research 
Centre returned with two powerful new 
exhibitions – NO MORE FLOWERS, the 
first solo exhibition by Syrian visual artist 
Abd Doumany and Portrait of a London 
Road: 1904, 1975, 2019, an exhibition 
documenting Elephant and Castle’s London 
Road at three points in its history.

We continue to build our Knowledge 
Exchange (KE) activity through the KE 
Impact Fund, with new funding to support 
existing KE collaborations and stimulate 
new ones, with £15,000 for each of our 
colleges to support staff on any Academic 
Career Pathway to develop or deliver a high 
quality activity which will have a positive 
and measurable impact for both UAL and 
external partners. We continue to build our 
knowledge exchange activity through the  
KE Impact Fund.

Not just a shop celebrated its second 
birthday and remains open online for the sale 
of work by UAL students and graduates, 

Our first-ever Research Season opened up 
our research to our community. New research 
projects include STEAM INC, tackling 
the need for a comprehensive scheme to 
identify the effectiveness of Science, Tech, 
Engineering, Arts and Maths in higher 
education. Fishskin, a project by the Centre 
for Sustainable Fashion Research Centre, 
demonstrates the commercial viability of fish 
skin as the sustainable new leather. Hacking 
Hearts had our students reinterpreting and 
reimagining cutting-edge scientific research 
presented by our Scientists in Residence at 
Central Saint Martins.

London College of Communication and 
UAL Archives & Special Collections Centre 
held an international symposium marking 
the 30th birthday of Kubrick’s Eyes Wide 
Shut. Camberwell, Chelsea and Wimbledon 
Colleges of Arts hosted ‘Staging Mixed 
Realities’, looking at the future of stage and 
technology with the National Theatre. Comics 
Jam – Preserving British Comics History was 
hosted by UAL’s Comics Research Hub and 
University of Dundee’s Scottish Centre for 
Comics Studies. The Comics Research Hub 
hosted the online International Graphic Novel 
& Comics Conference in July.

We can boast 
the second 

highest number of 
graduate start-ups 

in the UK
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even while the physical space was closed 
for lockdown. 

Centre for Sustainable Fashion partnered 
with Condé Nast to launch the Sustainable 
Fashion Glossary, an authoritative global 
resource on sustainable fashion and the 
industry’s role in the climate emergency. 
The glossary draws upon guiding principles 
and frameworks which underpin London 
College of Fashion’s ethos of using fashion 
to shape lives. It has input from Vogue 
Editors-in-Chief and is reviewed by a 
network of academics and sustainability 
researchers from around the world.

Central Saint Martins’ annual White 
Show took place outside the College for 
the first time as part of the prestigious 
British Fashion Council Fashion Awards at 
London’s Royal Albert Hall.

London College of Fashion x Microsoft saw 
the Fashion Innovation Agency taking part 
in a weekend of workshops and events at 
Microsoft’s flagship store on Oxford Circus. 
Staff and alumni explored how digital 
technology is making fashion design more 
accessible and discussed the challenges 
and opportunities of the modern fashion 
industry. 

Students from London College of 
Communication’s BA Journalism course 
contributed advice to a handbook on 
mental health for teenagers which won 
a British Medical Association award. The 
MeeTwo Teenage Mental Health Handbook 
features personal stories, expert overviews, 
and a range of support for young people.

Chelsea College of Arts MA Interior 
and Spatial Design students created a 
sustainable decorative Christmas tree for 
the lobby of the Shangri-La Hotel at the 
Shard. The design was inspired by the 
hotel’s Glass Christmas theme and novelist 
James Hilton’s book The Lost Horizon.
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Central Saint Martins created a world-
first immersive, multi-sensory 5G catwalk 
experience at London Fashion Week, in 
partnership with Three to celebrate their 5G 
mobile rollout across the UK. 

The Research Centre for Transnational Art, 
Identity and Nation (TrAIN) secured funding 
for Worlding Public Cultures: Art and Social 
Innovation, a collaborative research project 
and transnational platform designed to 
strengthen the resilience of public culture.

London College of Communication launched 
Accelerating the Creative Economy through 
Immersive Tech (ACE IT) in October, with 
100 people in attendance. Funded by the 
European Regional Development Fund, 
and co-delivered with London South Bank 
University, the programme supports London’s 
start-ups to conceptualise, research and 
develop immersive technologies.

The Careers and Employability team moved 
their services online with tailored support 
for students during the pandemic. Support 
includes Creative Business Accelerator, a 
new programme of business development for 
UAL graduates delivered across six months 
from July 2020 in partnership with Google 
for Startups; ‘Starting Out’, a programme of 
40 online events for 2020 graduates, led by 
industry experts; an online live chat service 
providing job search and CV support; and 
£500 bursaries to support disadvantaged 
students through the current crisis via 
the Creative Shift programme. The team 
continues to offer Creative Enterprise Awards 
to nurture and grow business ideas from final 
year students and graduates up to two years 
out, through funding and business support.

We were awarded £902,153 by the Office for 
Students and Research England to develop 
a joint entrepreneurial project, with The Royal 
Northern College of Music and Royal Central 
School of Speech and Drama. The StART 
Entrepreneurship Scheme is designed to 
support the professional development of 
students within the creative arts. 

We were awarded  
£902,153 by the Office for 
Students and Research 
England to support the 

professional development 
of students within the 

creative arts
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UAL is one of seven international art and 
design higher education institutions to 
launch Shared Campus in 2019. This 
new virtual campus enables creative 
education and collaboration on global 
topics across institutions. Its first 
Summer School was hosted online by 
UAL in June/July 2020, with students 
collaborating on the theme of hacking 
global icons.

We signed a memorandum of understanding 
with Antaran, a Tata Trusts initiative, to 
rejuvenate the handloom sector in the 
North Eastern and Eastern parts of India 
and preserve the livelihood of skilled artisan 
weavers. Textiles students from Central 
Saint Martins and Camberwell, Chelsea and 
Wimbledon Colleges of Arts travelled to India 
in February for a field research trip and spent 
time at the National Institute of Design and 
with handloom weavers of traditional rugs in 
Rajasthan, a region rich with craft-making.

Sir Nigel Carrington and our International 
team visited Toronto and Vancouver in 
2019 to extend our relationship with alumni 
and higher education partners in Canada. 
They talked to officials and arts and culture 
leaders about the value of creative education 
and partnership

We signed a memorandum of understanding 
with LASALLE College of the Arts, Singapore 
as a first gesture of collaboration between the 
two institutions and welcomed a delegation 
from the college on a reciprocal visit.

Reflecting all of this work, we rolled out 
new webpages showcasing UAL’s global 
reach and the strategic work co-ordinated 
by International Relations Unit and College 
International teams. UAL Global brings 
together details of our international projects 
and partnerships, innovative collaborative 
research, as well as staff and student 
exchanges.

Our perspective on the value of education 
was shared widely in the media, making the 
case for a broader definition of the value of 
degrees and warning against judging higher 
education primarily on graduate earnings. 
Sir Nigel Carrington underlined this message 
in a lecture at the PWC / Higher Education 
Policy Institute conference. 

Helen Storey’s work as UNHCR Artist in 
Residence in Za’atari Refugee Camp in 
Jordan and the Better Lives undergraduate 
course for first year students at London 
College of Fashion was highly commended 
at the Green Gown Awards 2019. Helen 
continued in this role during 2020, aiming 
to bring the experiences of resilient life from 
Za’atari into London College of Fashion 
classrooms.

Central Saint Martins introduced CSM 
Shifts, a new visual language for the College, 
designed to fit within the parameters of the 

Communication  
and collaboration
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College of Communication explored 
creative approaches to promoting the 
School for Social Entrepreneurs. The school 
gives people the tools to start, scale and 
strengthen organisations which can change 
lives and transform communities across the 
UK, Canada and China.

A pop-up exhibition at White City was the 
culmination of a collaboration between 
Central Saint Martins artists and scientists 
from MRC London Institute of Medical 
Sciences. Responding to the phrase “A 
Picture of Health”, the artwork created by 
five artist-scientist groups reflects current 
research topics that are vital to human health.
 
London College of Communication 
graphic design graduate Annie Nicholson 
(Fandangoe Kid) gave a meaningful new 
look to the College’s plinth at Elephant and 
Castle, marking 125 years of the college’s 
contribution to the London art scene. 
Collaborating with students and the local 
community, Annie’s design highlights the 
ways creating and making can help to 
maintain spaces for open dialogues.

We were represented at London Design 
Festival in September with a pop-up 
exhibition curated by London College of 
Fashion for the Festival’s Chelsea Design 
District, and an introduction to UAL Social 
Design Institute.

Central Saint Martins’ Lethaby and Window 
Galleries hosted Designing in Turbulent 
Times, showcasing a selection of recent 
graduate projects from the College, offering 
compelling and disruptive propositions  
for more sustainable and equitable 
futures. The Lethaby Gallery held a major 
retrospective exhibition Misshapes:  
The Making of Tatty Devine. 

London College of Fashion and its Centre 
for Fashion Curation held the exhibition 
Streetstyle: From Teddy Boys to Grime Kids, 
part of Subcultures: Then and Now, looking 
at the evolution of subcultures through a 
contemporary lens.

Bauhaus: Utopia in Crisis took place at 
Camberwell Space – Part of the OurHaus 
festival, this exhibition explored how 
contemporary practitioners have been drawn 
to the social, utopian and transgressive 
aspects of Bauhaus history. Camberwell 
College of Arts BA Fine Art students and staff 
visited the Bauhaus Foundation in Dessau, 

UAL branding with the flexibility to represent 
the diverse college creative community. 
“London Calling: A fashion magazine with 
the most exciting art school in the world”, 
an exclusive magazine dedicated to Central 
Saint Martins and its place in London, was 
published by one of Germany’s biggest 
broadsheet newspapers, Süddeutsche 
Zeitung in February 2020. The 82-page 
magazine with eight alternative covers 
was shot at Central Saint Martins during 
the autumn term 2019, profiling staff and 
students and covering subject areas 
including fashion, textile design, material 
futures, biodesign, graphics, performance 
and fine art.

BAFTA worked with London College of 
Fashion and its Centre for Sustainable 
Fashion, producing guidance for this year’s 
guests to help them dress consciously and 
sustainably for the event. The collaboration 
was a huge success, bringing global 
attention to the issue of sustainability and 
UAL’s work in sustainable fashion leadership.

London College of Fashion and City Hall 
joined forces to produce new Key Stage 
3 classroom resources which give young 
Londoners insight and opportunities into the 
fashion industry, co-developed with art and 
design teachers. 

Camberwell College of Arts established the 
Centre for Engagement though Creativity 
(The Playground), as a new community 
space in Camberwell for the whole 
community that offers a range of workshops, 
showcases and multi-arts events for the local 
community of all ages.

Chelsea College of Arts MA Curating and 
Collections course leader Dr David Dibosa 
took the nation through a fascinating look 
back at “the godfather” of modern art, Pablo 
Picasso – specifically examining his history 
through television on BBC4.

The Outreach team at Camberwell College 
of Arts ran a project called ‘Rare Doings’, 
which connected BA Illustration students 
and members of AdArt, a South London 
and Maudsley NHS Trust Foundation art 
group for outpatients in recovery from 
addiction. Two of the students went on to 
volunteer with AdArt, receiving NHS Art 
Therapy training.

Students on the BA (Hons) Media 
Communications course at London 

Germany, to celebrate Bauhaus 100. Over 
four nights, they staged a series of vibrant 
and exciting performances in front of an 
invited crowd of international partners and 
the public as part of the official centenary 
performance programme which launched 
the new Bauhaus Museum.

The Brunel Museum put the spotlight 
on The Power of Happiness, a project in 
collaboration with students from the BA 
Interior and Spatial Design at Camberwell 
College of Arts, led by Senior Lecturer 
Colin Priest and Associate Lecturer 
Takako Hasagawa.

Coinciding with the Turner Prize 
presentation 2019, UAL presented 
Counter Acts, curated by Osei Bonsu. 
The exhibition at the Lethaby Gallery 
highlighted the remarkable history UAL 
shares with the Prize. Spanning four 
decades, the show brought together 
previous winners and nominees who 
studied or taught at our Colleges, 
alongside the work of emerging graduates.

The ongoing influence and formative 
years of Factory Records were explored in 
Chelsea Space’s exhibition, Use Hearing 
Protection: FAC 1 – 50 / 40, marking the 
iconic Manchester label’s 40th anniversary. 
The exhibition brought 3,500 visitors to the 
Space, which celebrated its 15th birthday 
in 2020.

UAL Chair in Black Art & Design Sonia 
Boyce became the first black woman to be 
selected by the British Council to represent 
Britain at the Venice Biennale. As well as 
representing the UK, Sonia will present a 
major solo exhibition of new work, running 
May to November 2021, at the 59th 
International Art Exhibition of La Biennale  
di Venezia.

Professor Paul Goodwin, Chair of 
Contemporary Art and Urbanism and 
Director of TrAIN, co-curated We Will 
Walk – Art and Resistance in the American 
South at Turner Contemporary Margate. 
The exhibition showcased the work of 
artists and makers from Alabama and 
surrounding states.
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UAL was named the 19th greenest 
university in the UK by the People & 
Planet University League 2019 – up 25 
places from the previous year’s ranking. 
We received two Highly Commended 
awards at the Green Gown Awards 2019 
for projects at London College of Fashion.

We announced plans to put decarbonisation 
at the heart of our academic offer through 
three major new commitments. This includes 
appointing UAL Pro Vice-Chancellor 
Professor Jeremy Till to lead the University’s 
response to the climate emergency and 
making sustainability a required part of the 
student learning experience, through the 
introduction of relevant learning outcomes 
across all courses. This commitment is 
accompanied by the roll-out of a carbon 
literacy training programme for all academic 
and technical staff. 

We joined forces with 20 of the UK’s leading 
universities to strike a £50m deal to buy 
renewable energy directly from British wind 
farms in a major win for sustainability. The 
collaborative clean energy deal “power 
purchase agreement” (PPA), is the first time 
that public sector energy users have clubbed 
together to buy clean electricity.

In a UAL first, our Sustainability team 
welcomed eight UAL student interns in 2019, 
to work on a range of sustainability projects 
across the University. The students worked 
with staff to co-create their job roles and the 
scope of their projects. A series of events 
responded to the climate crisis both internally 
and externally, including climate assemblies 
at Central Saint Martins, Chelsea College 
of Arts and Wimbledon College of Arts, the 
Modual workshop on Climate Emergency at 
Somerset House, and Camberwell, Chelsea 
and Wimbledon Colleges of Arts takeover 
of the Horniman Museum, with the theme 
Climate Crisis: Speculative Futures.  

Our major estates projects are moving 
forward as we look towards the longer term 
and our place as part of a bold new vision 
for the capital. Mayor of London, Sadiq Khan 
broke ground to start construction on our 
new campus for London College of Fashion 
at the East Bank. This programme is likely 
to be subject to time and cost pressure as 
a result of the first lockdown. The planning 
permission granted for the Elephant and 
Castle town centre development including 
the new building for London College of 
Communication by Southwark was put to 

Inspirational 
environment

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 R

ev
ie

w

judicial review. There is ongoing litigation 
relating to an element of the scheme. 
However, the University is continuing to 
develop its plans for this project.

Eagle Wharf is a new hall of residence under 
development which is due to be completed 
in the Autumn of 2022.  We have obtained 
satisfactory planning permission and a 
development agreement has been signed 
between UAL and its development partner.  

We launched a new student hub designed 
to encourage creativity and inspiration at the 
Costume Store, our student hall in North 
Acton; and we welcomed the first UAL 
students to Wigram House, a new hall of 
residence in Victoria. UAL Catering unveiled 
new looks for our canteens at Chelsea, 
Central Saint Martins and London College of 
Communication. Each new design reflected 
its college and the Typo café at London 
College of Communication was also given a 
refit and a Vegan café opened on the site. 

Our new Environmental Management 
System (ISO14001) for learning, teaching 
and research is driven by transparency and 
student collaboration – one of the pledges 
from our Climate Emergency statement. It 
will play a key role in ensuring that UAL’s 
academic operations are as sustainable as 
possible.
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service systems and 1,200 social media 
accounts associated with UAL. 

We continue to improve the website user 
journey, and now offer the accessibility 
and translation tool Recite Me. We 
enhanced our popular digital platforms 
including the MyUAL app and online 
timetables. And we launched the 
Elements staff researcher database, a 
dedicated portal to generate research 
profiles, record peer esteem activities, 
and build our Research Excellence 
Framework submission.

Our first ever UAL-wide open day in 
October 2019 was advertised via an 
eye-catching campaign on TFL from 
tube stations to London’s buses, bringing 
our brand message “because the world 
needs creativity” out into the public. The 
UAL Pre-degree and Undergraduate 
Prospectus 2019/20 won Bronze at the 
HEIST Awards which mark excellence 
and innovation in education marketing, 
indicating our position as a force for 
innovation and creativity in our marketing.

UAL partnered with IBM to launch the 
UAL Graduate Showcase 2020. For the 
first time in our history, creative talent from 
across all six Colleges were showcased in 
one curated online space. 

We marked the completion of Phase 1 of the 
Digital Archives & Collections (DAC) project, 
with the implementation of a dedicated digital 
preservation system. The aim of the DAC 
project is to preserve our growing digital 
collections and create a portal to make these 
unique resources available to our students 
and staff, and the rest of the world.

We completed an ambitious eight month 
project on a cutting edge digital design 
language for the site, in keeping with UAL’s 
global reputation for creativity. As well as 
changes in design and branding, this work 
ensures the website is user friendly and  
fully accessible. 

We are working to ensure that all UAL sites 
and web-based systems are compliant with 
the EU online accessibility directive WCAG 
2.1 AA. New governance for our digital estate 
includes a new process for applying for social 
media accounts, an accessibility guidance 
hub for staff and a rationalisation project 
for the 210 websites and browser-based 

Our first ever UAL-
wide open day in
October 2019 was 
advertised via an

eye-catching 
campaign across 
the TFL network



28 

ar
ts

.a
c.

uk
)

ar
ts

.a
c.

uk

Honours and  
special achievements 

Grayson Perry CBE RA
Winner of the 2020 Erasmus prize, given 
annually for an exceptional contribution to 
the humanities, the social sciences or the 
arts. Grayson was selected for the “insightful 
way he tackles questions of beauty and 
craftsmanship”. It is the first time a British 
visual artist has been selected for the prize 
since 1968.

Professor Sonia Boyce OBE RA
Selected to represent the UK at the 59th 
International Art Exhibition – La Biennale di 
Venezia 2021

Rana Begum RA
Chelsea College of Arts alumna Rana Begum 
was elected a Royal Academician in the 
category of painting.

Sir Steve McQueen CBE
Chelsea College of Arts alumnus  
Steve McQueen awarded a knighthood for 
services to art and film.

Mathangi “Maya” Arulpragasam MBE
Central Saint Martins alumna M.I.A. awarded 
an MBE for services to music.

David Isaac CBE
Lifetime Achievement award in the Chambers 
Diversity & Inclusion Awards: Europe 2019 for 
his outstanding contribution to furthering the 
advancement of LGBT+ inclusion.

Pride in  
our people
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prizes and awards

Yiwei Cui
Central Saint Martins graduate Yiwei Cui  
was named one of the Crafts Council’s top 
10 craft graduates of the year.

Design Against Crime and  
BA Product Design
The prison cell furniture project – a 
collaboration between final-year BA Product 
Design students at Central Saint Martins 
and UAL’s Design Against Crime Research 
Centre – is one of Deezen’s top 10 furniture 
designs of 2019.

Jack Irving
Central Saint Martins alumnus Jack Irving 
won a £100,000 competition to create a 
deep sea-themed installation for Blackpool 
Illuminations to bring a “new dimension” of 
both design and technology to the show.

Leslie Maria Lampe
London College of Communication MA 
Documentary Film graduate Leslie Maria 
Lampe was awarded a 2020 One World 
Media Fellowship. She is one of 20 emerging 
journalists and filmmakers who will be 
supported by One World Media to produce 
engaging and creative content in developing 
countries. Leslie’s work explores the key 
issues of youth, conflict and trauma, with a 
particular focus on current global political 
conflicts and the climate crisis. 

London College of Communication  
BA Journalism students 
The students contributed advice to The 
MeeTwo Teenage Mental Health Handbook 
for teenagers, which won a British Medical 
Association award. The book beat 586 
submissions to win the Health and Social 
Care category. 

Clara Nordenhok and Liina Vreimann
London College Fashion student Clara 
Nordenhok won first prize in the Cordwainers 
National Footwear Student of the Year 
Awards 2020 and fellow London College 
of Fashion student Liina Vreimann was 
commended.

Oonagh O’Hagan
Central Saint Martins Foundation Curriculum 
Leader Oonagh O’Hagan was voted Hero 
of the Day on BBC Radio 1 Newsbeat after 
being nominated by her students. Oonagh 
co-launched the #CMSlovesNHS initiative to 
sew scrubs for healthcare workers during the 
pandemic together with fellow Curriculum 
leader Jo Simpson.

Thomas J Price
Chelsea College of Arts alumnus Thomas 
J Price will be one of two artists creating 
sculptures honouring the Windrush 
generation. The sculptures will stand outside 
Hackney Town Hall as the first permanent 
artworks to honour the Windrush generation 
when they are unveiled next year.

Lauryn Raymond
London College of Communication 
graduate Lauryn Raymond, a Junior 
Designer at Sudler London WPP, was highly 
commended the Advertising Association’s 
UK Young Lions Awards 2020. 

Adam Roberts
A Senior Wellbeing Rep for the UAL Social 
Programme and second year BA (Hons) 
Photography Student at London College 
of Communication, Adam was awarded 
Residence Assistant of the Year 2020 in the 
College and University Business Officers  
RA Awards.

Mike White
Chelsea College of Arts graduate Mike 
White won the bid to design the official 
artwork for the 2020 Sundance Film 
Festival.

Dilys Williams
Dilys Williams, Professor of Fashion Design 
for Sustainability and Director of the Centre 
for Sustainable Fashion at London College 
of Fashion was named Sustainable Fashion 
Champion by Drapers at its inaugural 
Sustainable Fashion Awards 2020.

Daisy Yu
Central Saint Martins graduate Daisy Yu 
won one of three student awards from the 
LVMH Prize 2019, with a 10,000 euro prize 
and a year’s mentoring at the atelier of  
Louis Vuitton.

Sian Zeng
Central Saint Martins graduate Sian Zeng 
won the Etsy International Design Awards 
Grand Prize for her magnetic wallpaper 
designs.

Yuqiao Zheng
Camberwell student Yuqiao Zheng won 
an award for communication design at  
the 14th Annual San Francisco Design 
Festival Awards.
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UAL prizes and awards

London College of Fashion Instagram 
account 
Nominated for a 2020 Webby Award in the 
Education and Discovery – Social Media 
category.

Portfolio
Shortlisted in the 9th annual People’s 
Lovie Awards in the Websites: Best User 
Experience category.

Professor Helen Storey’s work as Artist 
in Residence in Za’atari Refugee Camp in 
Jordan and the Better Lives undergraduate 
course for first year students at London 
College of Fashion. Highly commended at 
the annual Green Gown Awards 2019.

UAL Pre-degree and Undergraduate 
Prospectus 2019/20 
A bronze award at the 2019 HEIST 
Awards: Best Postgraduate or Specialist 
Institution Prospectus category.



Yiwei Cui
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Yuqiao Zheng
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More about our alumni 
Just under half the 80 Royal Academicians 
are UAL alumni; many others are serving 
or former staff. 

Our alumni include multiple winners of the 
BP Portrait Award; Jerwood Prize; Taylor 
Wessing Photographic Portrait Prize; 
Minerva Medal; BAFTAs, Golden Globes 
and Oscars.

UAL staff and alumni have won the Turner 
Prize 18 times in the 35 years since its 
inception. 

UAL alumni make up half the recipients of 
the British Designer of the Year and over 
half the fashion designers showing during 
most London Fashion Weeks. 

Seven alumni have won the Prince Philip 
Designers Prize. 20 of the Royal Designers 
for Industry are from UAL. The first two 
winners of the Queen Elizabeth II Award 
for British Design trained at UAL.
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Income
The University has had another successful 
year, despite the challenging environment, 
generating income of £335.5 million (2019: 
£321.6 million) and a surplus of £8.4 million 
(2019: £11.5 million) which equates to 
2.5% (2019: 3.6%) of total income. The 
surplus is required to fund the University’s 
extensive capital programme to enhance 
accommodation for London College of 
Communication and London College of 
Fashion over the coming years. The surplus 
for the year is arrived at after a pension 
charge of £22.4 million (2019: £20.8 million), 
which is the difference between pension 
charges calculated by the actuary and the 
cash paid by the University during the year. 
It has arisen largely due to changes in the 
performance of the funds held, and changes 
in the assumptions used by the actuary to 
value the liabilities. 

Even in this unusual year, the University 
continues to receive high application levels 
and strong place acceptance rates for Home 
and EU markets. The international student 
landscape remains uncertain given the 
restrictions on movement brought about by 
the pandemic. The University has flexible 
financial plans in place given this complex 
environment and expects financial pressure 
ahead, at least in the short term, however, 
the University remains confident that its 
global reach and continued appeal will help 
to steady the financial future of the University 
in the medium term. The position of UAL in 
the league tables (notably QS world ranking) 
reflects our continued focus on quality. 
These factors not only contribute significantly 
to our strong financial result but also position 
us well as we continue to navigate the 
uncertain future.

Other income has reduced following a deci-
sion to  give students in UAL halls the option 
to be release d from their third term of rent,  
which led to a reduction in rents received.  
This has been further compounded by a 
reduction in pre-sessional and short course 
students using halls in 2019/20.

Our enterprise activities support the 
University in diversifying our income streams. 
UAL Short Courses Limited, the University’s 
main trading subsidiary, generated a loss 
this year for the first time as a result of the 
pandemic. The Language Centre and Study 
Abroad was also adversely impacted as a 
result of lost income. The UAL Awarding 
Body was positively impacted financially 
by the pandemic due to reduced external 
moderation costs due to changed Ofqual 
assessment requirements. 

Financial  
review

As in previous years, the 
University’s financial 

performance this year was 
underpinned by strong 

international fees
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As in previous years, the University’s financial 
performance this year was underpinned by 
strong international fees which increased 
to £153.1 million (2019: £130.4 million). 
International students from outside the 
EU comprise 41% of all students and help 
create a powerfully diverse community. The 
University has also received £3.3 million from 
the Government Job Retention Scheme.

Expenditure
Total expenditure increased by £16.7 million 
and includes a 12.4% increase in staff costs 
as a result of the net effect of a voluntary 
severance scheme, nationally negotiated pay 
award; pay progression; pension charges; 
and a small overall increase in staff numbers. 
The University implemented a recruitment 
freeze in April to help to control costs.

UAL has continued to focus resources 
on the student experience and essential 
services. Other operating expenses have 
decreased by 5.1%, partly as a result of the 
University shutting its sites, controlling costs 
and pausing any non-essential spend in 
the period since pandemic. Some estates 
maintenance and development work was 
delayed, including the capital programme, 
and expenditure fell in some areas in line 
with reduced income and service delivery. 
However, key projects were still being 
undertaken to improve the experience for 
students and staff. These include working 
with IBM on the virtual student showcase; 
improving the student admissions process; 
continued development of our student 
records system; rationalising and improving 
our digital estate to support online learning 
and working from home; refreshing IT 
infrastructure, computers and devices; and 
investing additional resources in the upkeep 
of the estate.

Bursaries and scholarships
It is vital that the University remains open 
to talented students regardless of their 
background or financial means. To support 
students with higher fees and those in 
hardship, the University offers a package of 
scholarships, bursaries and other support 
with spend totalling over £4m each year.  
We aim to ensure that students from less 
well-off backgrounds are not deterred from  
applying. We have been successful in 
widening participation and are determined 
to ensure that the fee level does not impede 
further success. Further information on the 
performance against the University’s Access 
and Participation Plan is given in note 8b.
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46%
International Fees

36%
Home/EU Fees

10%Other

6%Grants

2%External Contracts

55%
Teaching and Research

20%Buildings, Halls,  
Catering and Retail

12%Running the colleges 

9%Central costs

4%External contracts,  
interest and depreciation

Where UAL’s money comes from Where the money goes
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Student Services 
£1.9m

Halls, Catering, Retail  
and External Contracts 
£29.3m

Staff costs

Teaching related

Teaching  
related

Central costs

Central  
costs

Premises, 
residences, 
other

Other

Non-staff costs

How costs split between  
staff and other costs

Staff costs  
by area

Non-staff costs  
by area

Non-staff costs  
by category

Repairs and 
Maintenance 
£10.2m

Academic Services 
£19.7m

Premises 
£17.6m

Teaching 
departments 
£16.2m

General Education 
£6.1m

Depreciation and Interest 
£8.7m

Cross university services 
£7.4m

64%

83%

56% 38%

36%

11%

6%

6%
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Why does the university make an operating surplus?

To ensure UAL’s  activities 
remain financially sustainable 
 in the long term

To ensure UAL can replace 
and refurbish its buildings 
and equipment

To guard against events 
that might damage UAL’s 
financial health

To invest in the facilities 
we need to deliver the 
academic strategy

College-based staff: 
Teaching   £63m 
Technical   £18m 
Research   £7m 
Administration  £22m 
Short courses and other £39m

Cross-University staff

71% 29%

£335.5m - =£327.1m £8.4m
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Balance sheet
The University’s balance sheet is strong with 
net assets totalling £262.2 million (2019: 
£348.0 million) despite a large increase 
in pension liability of £115.7 million which 
is discussed in more detail below, and a 
reduction in the total amount of cash and 
investments held at year end due to the timing 
of investment in the capital programme and a 
delay to the receipt of fee income due to the 
delayed start of term. Student debtor levels 
continue to be well controlled notwithstanding 
the increase in income and the uncertain 
social, economic and political climate.

Pensions
The University’s employees primarily 
belong to two pension schemes; the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and 
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS). A small 
number of employees are members of the 
Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS).

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit 
scheme with assets held in separate trustee 
administered funds. The actuary’s report, 
prepared in accordance with accounting 
standards, calculates a funding shortfall 
of £285.7 million at 31 July 2020 which 
compares to £168.8 million at 31 July 2019. 
The increase in liability is largely due to a 
decrease in corporate bond yields which are 
used to discount future pension liabilities. 
Additionally, there has been a change in the 
methodology applied to the calculation of 
the CPI rate used when valuing the pension 
liabilities. Asset values have also been 
depressed by poor market conditions around 
the year end. 

TPS is an unfunded defined benefit scheme 
and USS is a funded defined benefit scheme 
where contributions are made on a pay-as- 
you-go basis. They are largely exempt from 
the requirement of FRS 102 to incorporate 
the financial position of the scheme within the 
year-end financial statements.

Liquidity and treasury 
management
Despite Covid-19 having a significant 
impact on the operation of UAL we have 
been able to maintain strong cash reserves 
during 2019 – 20. The University’s cash and 
short-term deposit balances decreased to 
£234.6 million (2019: £262.2 million) as a 
result of planned milestones in the capital 
programme for LCF being delivered. During 
2019 – 20 the planned purchase of the land 
at Stratford was completed along with the 
signing of the development agreement which 
triggered a payment to the London Legacy 
Development Corporation for UAL’s share of 
the development costs to date. The majority 
of the remaining cash balances have been 
ring-fenced for the completion of the capital 
programme over the next five years. It is 
expected that Covid-19 will put pressure on 
UAL’s ability to generate surpluses in future 
years, and it is likely that additional finance will 
need to be put in place for three to five years 
time, if all of our pipeline capital projects go 
ahead as planned.

At 31 July 2020 UAL had outstanding long- 
term debt financing of £81.9 million (2019: 
£86.6 million) which has been used to finance 
our historic capital programme, namely the 
Millbank and Kings Cross sites. The loan is 
repayable in equal instalments over 25 years. 
UAL’s gearing ratio (external borrowing to 
income) is well within the University’s target 
range and the wider financing implications 
are considered as part of the appraisal 
of all new projects. The University has in 
place two undrawn facilities for £40 million 
and £80 million to fund the LCF and LCC 
developments respectively.

A policy is in place for the investment of short-
term funds which has been endorsed by the 
Finance Committee. The University’s funds 
are held in short-term deposits in such a way 
as to optimise returns to the University while 
protecting the capital sum and ensuring that 
liquid funds are available to meet operating 
cash outflows and capital expenditure as they 
fall due.

Summary
Strong management information and an 
agile decision-making structure enabled 
UAL to respond quickly and effectively to the 
Covid-19 outbreak. Robust cost control and 
effective revenue protection has enabled UAL 
to achieve its surplus of £8.4 million (2019: 
£11.5 million) for the year ended 31 July 2020. 
This puts UAL in a good financial position to 
respond to the ongoing impact of Covid-19 
during 2020–21, whilst maintaining the ability 
to continue to deliver our capital programme.
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Key risks affecting  
the University:

The wide-reaching impact of the current 
pandemic has resulted in a substantial 
increase in the overall risk profile of UAL. 
Since we reported last year, a number of 
significant risks affecting the University have 
crystallised and their impact has been felt. 
There are now 10 high risks which pose an 
immediate threat to the operation of UAL 
and whose impact could be significant. We 
have provided a brief summary of the high 
risks below and this should be considered 
in conjunction with the Covid-19 update 
provided earlier in this report.

Regulatory compliance – UAL has a low 
appetite for risk in the area of compliance 
and is currently operating in a regulatory 
regime with potentially very little tolerance. 
Continued Brexit uncertainty and the lack of 
clarity around future regulatory frameworks 
has meant that it is a challenge for UAL to 
anticipate and prepare for future regulatory 
changes. 

Financial sustainability – Given the 
financial pressures on the University, 
effective action has been taken to mitigate 
these risks including:
–  Robust and immediate cost control 

measures implemented, 
–  Financial modelling to analyse and estimate 

the potential impact,
–  Zero-based budgeting for all activities and 

the protection of teaching budgets,
–  Voluntary severance scheme completed to 

reduced fixed staff costs. 

Legal risks – Higher education is 
experiencing an increased risk of 
litigation which could increase the cost 
of compensation and expose UAL to 
reputational damage. UAL is carefully 
monitoring student feedback to ensure we 
take appropriate steps to deliver a positive 
student experience. UAL is also preparing 
for the impact of legislative changes that will 
flow from Brexit in relation to EU staff and 
students and contractual obligations.

Student recruitment – The current 
pandemic has disrupted UAL’s established 
student recruitment patterns and this will be 
a challenge for UAL in the coming years. UAL 
will continue to use established modelling 
and scenario planning tools to identify risks 
and inform mitigations. It should be noted 
that geopolitical uncertainty continues to 
affect recruitment in our key markets. 

Duty of care and support to students – 
The risks to the well-being of our student 
population have increased as a result of the 
pandemic and have the potential to cause 
severe damage to the UAL community. 

Regular communication to all students is 
now well established. Well-being pages have 
been updated to reflect challenges of remote 
learning and bespoke communications have 
been sent out offering support to affected 
students.

Academic quality – The risks in this area 
continue to present a significant challenge 
to UAL, but we have responded to feedback 
and learnt lessons from the summer term. 
The following challenges remain and the 
likelihood and potential impact of these 
factors will be closely monitored: 
–  Rapid move to online course delivery if 

further lockdowns/London lockdown 
crystallise

–  Access to workshops, studios and 
specialist facilities

–  Academic regulations and policies may 
need to be further amended/developed in 
response to operational changes

–  Equality, diversity and inclusion challenges
–  Staff sickness/self-isolation or poor staff 

well-being and morale on teaching quality.

Student satisfaction – Meeting and 
exceeding the expectations of students 
continues to be a key focus for the University 
and the student experience is at the centre 
of both the University’s strategy and our 
response to the challenges presented 
by Covid-19. Historic factors affecting 
this risk include; lowering of NSS scores, 
particularly for overall satisfaction (currently 
71%), retention, progression and attainment 
differentials, and ensuring fair access and 
participation. Whilst the academic strategy 
and the academic enhancement model are 
still in progress to address these issues, 
factors such as the rapid move to online 
delivery, alternative formats for degree 
shows and the blended learning approach 
for the autumn term continue to impact 
student satisfaction. 

People issues – The factors affecting this 
risk have increased significantly in the last 
six months. New working practises, remote 
working, furlough, voluntary severance, 
exit from lockdown, impact of technology 
and new policies, all have the potential to 
seriously disrupt UAL and impact its ability 
to maintain high calibre academic, technical 
and professional staff whilst also diversifying 
our workforce. Clear, regular and honest 
staff communication has been at the centre 
of our approach to managing this risk and 
has been supplemented with well-being 
resources for managers and staff. Pulse 
surveys have been used to collect feedback, 
measure impact and identify actions. 

Infrastructure –Covid-19 has had a major 
impact on the progress of the capital 
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Five-Year summary of performance

 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016  

Total income (£m) 335.5 321.6 308.9 281.4 280.9

Surplus generated before exceptional items (£m) 8.4 11.5 22.4 17.4 26.7

Cash balances (£m) 229.7 172.3 106.6 67.4 60.1

Net Assets (£m) 262.2 348.0 343.1 285.6 251.5

Key performance indicators

 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016  

Ratio of surplus (before exceptional items) to total income (%) 2.5 3.6 3.6 6.2 9.5

Ratio of staff costs to total income (%) 63 58 55 56 52

Days ratio of net liquid assets to total expenditure 259 205 137 94 87

Gearing ratio (%) 24 27 30 34 39

programme and this is in addition to the 
challenges already inherent in the University’s 
capital plans. Notable factors affecting the 
two major campus projects for LCF and LCC 
include:
–  Planning risk
–  Site closure/prolongation
–  Reduced site capacity/productivity
–  Tender inflation
–  Additional costs as a result of extending the 

delivery timescale.
–  Delayed site completion and subsequent 

college moves
–  Additional costs of keeping legacy sites 

operational

Robust procedures are in place for managing 
strategic investments and we have completed 
a comprehensive review of in-flight projects 
as part of a stop/pause/go exercise to ensure 
only essential expenditure is incurred. 

Organisational issues – The pandemic has 
and will continue to have a significant impact 
on the core business activities of UAL and 
its subsidiary companies. At the start of the 
pandemic UAL established a ‘Gold’ level 
crisis management group, chaired by the 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic). Detailed 
scenario planning is regularly updated 
particularly relating to recruitment outcomes, 
financial plans and delivery options. Three 
Silver groups reporting to the Gold group 
have been in operation to identify actions and 
co-ordinate mitigation. The mitigations being 
considered and in progress have far reaching 
consequences and every aspect of University 
operation is in scope. A change programme 

of this scale and within this timescale is 
unprecedented and exposes the University 
to a major degree of risk. A number of Covid 
19 response groups were embedded into 
business as usual activity and operational 
workstreams.  This enabled UAL to maintain 
an effective and timely response to the 
ongoing challenges of the pandemic. 

Moving forward
Looking ahead to 2020-21, we are not yet in 
a position to predict with any certainty what 
the post pandemic university landscape 
will look like and undoubtedly there are 
some significant challenges ahead for UAL. 
The results for 2019-20 combined with a 
strong underlying balance sheet put UAL 
in a good position to continue to deliver its 
strategic objectives and capital plans in an 
unstable environment. However, with so 
much uncertainty, UAL has been cautious in 
setting its budgeting assumptions for 2020-
21 and has prioritised the need to deliver 
an outstanding student experience in these 
challenging times. Teaching activity, our core 
business, has been protected and we are 
using our academic delivery model to make 
sure resources are prioritised effectively as 
we move through the year. The vibrancy 
of UAL, through our research, knowledge 
exchange and commercial collaborations, 
will continue to play an important role in our 
strategy. 
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Public 
benefit

Governance 
review

University of the Arts London is an  
exempt Charity under the terms of  
the Charities Act 2011.

In setting and reviewing the University’s 
objectives and activities, the Court of 
Governors has due regard to the Charity 
Commission’s guidance on the reporting 
of public benefit and particularly to its 
supplementary guidance on the advancement 
of education. This statement has been 
included in response to the formal reporting 
requirement overseen by the Office for 
Students (OfS) as the principal regulator  
of higher education institutions in England  
under the Charities Act 2011.

The overall aim of University of the Arts 
London, as set out in the Education  
Reform Act 1988, is:
— to provide higher education
— to provide further education
—  to carry out research and to publish 

the results of the research or any other 
material arising out of or connected with it 
in such manner as the University sees fit

In implementing its aims and objectives,  
the University is guided by the vision, values 
and priorities set out in its 2015 – 22 strategy.  
The University’s core activities deliver 
substantial public benefit and to support 
this assertion the University aims to be 
transparent and accountable in the way that  
it manages any public funding it receives.

The University continuously works to provide 
public benefit. Initiatives taken during the  
year include:
—  The provision of significant bursaries, 

scholarships and fee waivers to widen 
participation on our courses

—  Engagement with the community through 
a diverse schedule of events throughout 
the year, from summer degree shows to 
seminars and workshops

—  Progression partnership agreements 
designed to promote the progression of 
students from further education institutions 
to higher education courses at the 
university

—  Projects in partnership with local 
authorities, government departments and 
agencies, neighbourhood groups, local 
businesses and residents to ensure that 
we engage with the wider community in  
a way which is sensitive to the area’s 
people and urban landscape

Sustainability strategy
The University aims to create a culture 
of environmental stewardship in order to 
develop and integrate sustainable and ethical 
practice throughout all aspects of our life 
and work. Art, design and communication 
education can play a vital role in the 
development of a more sustainable future.

UAL works to the Streamlined Energy and 
Carbon Reporting (SECR) framework and 
our total carbon emissions for Aug 18 – July 
19 were 7,370 tonnes, which is down on the 
previous year.

The university monitors utilities consumption 
and sets annual reduction targets, we have 
an Energy Management System which is 
ISO50001 accredited, and our consumption 
data and energy efficiency actions are 
independently audited. Consumption data 
is supplied by our utility suppliers and this 
is verified across all sites through meter 
readings.

UAL wishes to maximise the positive 
environmental, social and economic impacts 
that result from these activities and operate 
within an ethical and responsible framework, 
which is reflected in the UAL Environmental 
Management System ISO14001 and the 
Energy Management System ISO50001, the 
University’s Ethical Investment Policy and 
Principles for Responsible Investment (which 
is supported by the United Nations), and the 
UAL Carbon Management Plan.

Governors
The members of the University’s Court  
of Governors are listed on page 5.

Creditor payment policy
It is the University’s policy to pay creditors 
in accordance with its statutory obligations 
or when they fall due for payment under the 
terms of a prevailing contract. The majority 
of suppliers’ invoices for goods and services 
that comply with all relevant terms and 
conditions are paid within 30 days from the 
invoice date, unless other payment terms 
have been agreed.

Staff and student involvement
The University places considerable value 
on the involvement of its staff and students 
and on good communication with them. 
The University provides updates to all staff 
at regular intervals during the year, providing 
information on the University’s progress, 
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Disclosure of information  
to auditors
The governors in office at the date of approval 
of this report confirm that, so far as they 
are each aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the University’s auditors 
are unaware; and each governor has taken 
all the steps that they ought to have taken as 
a governor to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish  
that the University’s auditors are aware of  
that information.

Internal and external auditors
A full market testing of internal and external 
audit providers is carried out periodically in 
line with the conditions of funding of the OfS 
and the University’s financial procedures. 
KPMG LLP were reappointed by the Court 
of Governors as the University’s external 
auditors for the year ended 31 July 2020 
following the last market testing exercise 
during 2015 – 16. PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP were reappointed by the Court of 
Governors as the University’s internal auditors 
for the year ended 31 July 2020 following the 
last market testing exercise during 2014 – 15. 
During 2019 – 20 a procurement exercise was 
undertaken and PwC were reappointed as 
the University’s internal auditors.

Conclusion
The University remains strong both 
academically and financially, despite the 
most extraordinary year in its history. This 
has been achieved through the tireless 
efforts of its staff. We pass on the thanks 
of the Court of Governors to the staff for all 
they have done to ensure students continue 
to learn and to excel.

Sir Nigel Carrington 
Vice-Chancellor  
24 November 2020

David Isaac CBE
Chair of the Court of Governors
24 November 2020

performance and successes. The University 
recognises three trade unions and there 
is a formal structure for communication, 
consultation and negotiation with their 
elected representatives. Funds are set aside 
each year for staff development, ensuring 
that technical, management and professional 
training is available to all levels of staff.
Social justice, diversity, and international 
reach are part of the University’s core values, 
behaviours and goals as embodied in our 
UAL Strategy 2015 – 22.

Here we demonstrate how we are 
committed to creating a diverse and inclusive 
learning and working environment for all our 
students and staff. The Strategy is aligned 
with our Equal Opportunities Policy, our 
Public Sector Equality Duty objectives and 
the regulatory requirements set by the OfS  
and Ofsted.

Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion
The University is committed to creating an 
inclusive environment where students and 
staff feel able to be themselves and reach 
their full potential. This ethos extends to the 
creative and community partners with whom 
we engage, and we hold both ourselves 
and our partners accountable for ensuring 
inclusivity is at the core of the University’s 
agenda. 

Our UAL Equality Diversity and Inclusion 
Strategy sets out our commitment to 
promote equality, diversity and inclusion 
on grounds of age, disability, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religious/ belief (or no belief), sex, 
sexual orientation, gender identity and caring 
responsibilities. We also have a number of 
policies that have been designed to protect 
our staff and students from discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, including our 
Dignity at Work policy, Sexual Orientation 
Policy, Trans Equality Policy, and Anti-
bullying and Anti-Harassment Policy.

Our EDI Strategy has been designed to fulfil 
our Public Sector Equality Duty through 
key objectives and is realised through an 
Operational Plan that has tangible actions 
with clear timescales and accountability. 
The implementation of the strategy is the 
responsibility of everyone at UAL, from the 
Court of Governors to college-based teams.
Following the events surrounding the 
Black Lives Matter movement and the 

emerging impact of Covid19, the University 
is actively working towards formulating and 
implementing our Anti-Racism Strategy which 
will enable us to tackle race inequality and 
create a more inclusive institution.

The Diversity Team supports departments 
across UAL to carry out reviews of policies 
and services. We do this to identify ways of 
improving the student and staff experience, 
and ensure UAL promotes equality, in line 
with the Equality Act 2010.

Gender pay gap
We take equal pay very seriously at UAL 
and our gender pay gap, at 6.1% in favour 
of men, is smaller than the national average, 
especially in academic and research 
positions. The latest data available, shows 
that there is a gender pay gap favouring 
women for Deans and Professors and most 
academic grades but at Directors, Deputy 
Director level, some technical roles and in 
jobs at lower grades, there is a gender pay 
gap favouring men. We recognise there is still 
work to do.

Health and safety
The University aspires to achieve a positive 
health and safety culture. This requires 
commitment and active co-operation by staff 
and students alike, supported by sufficient 
resources, training and guidance. Our Safety, 
Health and Wellbeing Policy sets out the 
University’s commitment to providing a safe 
and healthy working environment through: 
— the use of materials, equipment and 
machinery that are safe and do not present 
unacceptable risks to health; 
— information, instruction, training and 
supervision as necessary to ensure all staff 
and students can work safely; 
— the development of safe systems of work, 
reflecting best practice, so that staff and 
students expect good health and safety 
practices as a matter of course. 
The University believes consideration of 
health and safety is essential in the proper 
execution of management responsibilities. 
It therefore ensures all managers have the 
necessary competencies and skills to achieve 
this. Health and safety is an integral part of 
planning within the University at all levels. 
The Covid-19 pandemic and the University’s 
response to this has served to strengthen 
the commitment to health and safety in 
everything that we do. 
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The University is a higher education 
corporation established under Section 121 
of the Education Reform Act 1988 and an 
exempt charity under charity legislation. Its 
governing document is the Instrument and 
Articles of Government which were approved 
by Orders of the Privy Council.

The University is committed to applying 
best practice in all aspects of corporate 
governance. This summary describes the 
manner in which the University follows the 
principles set out in the Higher Education 
Code of Governance (Committee of 
University Chairs, 2018). Its purpose is to 
help the reader of the accounts understand 
how the principles have been applied.

In 2018, UAL was successful in its 
application to join the Office for Students’ 
register of English higher education 
providers (as an HE provider that was 
previously funded by HEFCE). As part of 
this application, UAL explained how it met 
the conditions of registration, including 
how it has in place adequate and effective 
management and governance arrangements 
to deliver, in practice, the public interest 
governance principles set out by the OfS. 
These principles include academic freedom, 
accountability, student engagement, 
academic governance, risk management, 
value for money, freedom of speech; 
ensuring that the size and composition of the 
governing body is appropriate; and that the 
members of the governing body are fit and 
proper persons. The OfS was content that 
UAL’s governance arrangements complied 
with the initial conditions of registration. 

The University’s Court of Governors is 
responsible for ensuring that UAL complies 
with the OfS’ ongoing conditions of 
registration and receives monitoring reports 
on these matters. UAL also has an OfS 
Monitoring Group which meets on a termly 
basis and consists of senior managers with 
responsibility for relevant compliance areas.

Statement of internal control
The Court of Governors is the University’s 
governing body. Members of the Court 
of Governors (known as “governors”) are 
the University’s trustees. The Court of 
Governors is made up principally of external 
members from whom its Chair and Deputy 
Chair are elected. Also included in its 
membership are University staff members 
and a nominated sabbatical officer of the 
Students’ Union, as student governor.
No governors are remunerated for their 
work on the Court.

The Court of Governors is responsible for 
the University’s system of internal control 
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such 
a system is designed to mitigate rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The Court of Governors is of the view that 
there is an ongoing process for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the University’s 
significant risks; that it has been in place for 
the year ended 31 July 2020 and up to the 
date of approval of the annual report and 
accounts; that it is regularly reviewed by the 

Corporate  
governance  
statement

Court and that it accords with the internal 
control guidance for directors in the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, as deemed 
appropriate for higher education.

In line with regulatory guidance, the 
University has in place a risk management 
strategy and policy which have been 
considered and endorsed by senior 
management, the University’s internal 
auditors, and the Audit Committee (the 
governors’ lead body for assessing whether 
the University is effectively managing its 
risks). In addition, there is a risk management 
group which meets termly and is made up 
of senior staff from across the University 
to ensure that key risks are identified and 
contributing factors, mitigating actions and 
controls are monitored. There have been 
no critical internal audit findings during the 
year. The area of IT disaster recovery was 
reviewed and originally rated as high risk, but 
after the University carried out further work, 
the rating was reduced to medium risk. The 
auditors carried out a reduced programme 
of work for the year due to the pandemic but 
were still able to issue a satisfactory annual 
opinion.

Consideration of all types of risks (business, 
operational, compliance and financial) 
and associated control mechanisms are a 
standing item on the agendas of the Audit 
Committee and other committees, such 
as the Estates Committee and the People 
Strategy Committee, where the risks are 
relevant to them. The Audit Committee’s role 
in this area is to ensure a high-level review 
of the arrangements for internal control. 
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The Court’s agenda includes regular items 
for consideration of risk and control and 
Court receives reports thereon from senior 
management and the Audit Committee.
The emphasis is on obtaining the relevant 
degree of assurance and not merely reporting 
by exception.

The University ensures regularity and 
propriety in the use of public funding via the 
systems of internal control set out above. 
In addition, systems of internal audit are in 
place and reviews are reported to the Audit 
Committee on a regular basis, alongside 
an annual Research Integrity review. The 
Finance Committee considers the report on 
Transparent Approach to Costing prior to its 
submission to the OfS. Further information 
about the governance roles of Court and its 
Committees are set out below.

At its meeting on 24 November 2020, the 
Court received the results of the annual 
assessment carried out by the Audit 
Committee for the year ended 31 July 2020. 
The Committee considered documentation 
from the senior management team, internal 
and external audit, and the assessment took 
account of events since 31 July 2020.

These conclusions have been reported to our 
regulator, the Office for Students.

The Court of Governors
The Court of Governors normally meets 
five times a year, although governors may 
hold additional meetings when there is 
urgent business to consider. It endeavours 
to conduct its business in accordance 
with the principles of the Nolan Committee 
on standards in public life (selflessness; 
integrity; objectivity; accountability; 
openness; honesty; leadership). The Court 
of Governors has adopted the Higher 
Education Code of Governance 2018, noting 
that the essential components of each 
element of this HE Code of Governance are 
in place, and on 24 November 2020, the 
Court adopted in principle the revised 2020 
code, subject to review of relevant details 
by the Court’s Committees. The Court of 
Governors ensures transparency about the 
University’s corporate governance functions 
via publication of key information as part of 
the University’s Annual Report and Financial 
Statements. In addition, further details about 
the Court, its members, its committees and 
core policies and procedures are published 
on the University’s website. 

The Court is responsible for the determination 
of the educational character and mission 
of the University and for oversight of its 
activities, including the strategic direction of 
the University; the effective and efficient use 
of resources; approval of annual estimates 
of income and expenditure; ensuring the 
solvency of the University and safeguarding of 

The Court is responsible for the 
determination of the educational 

character and mission of the 
University and for oversight of its
activities, including the strategic 

direction of the University
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assets; the setting of a framework for the pay 
and conditions of staff; and more specifically 
the appointment and dismissal of the Vice-
Chancellor and the Clerk to the Court. The 
Court is also responsible for appointing (i) 
governors within the parameters set out in 
the Instrument and Articles of Government, 
and subject to the responsibilities of the 
Committee of Independent Governors; and 
(ii) its Chair and Deputy Chair. The Court 
has established several committees and 
one advisory group, details of which are 
set out below. All of these Committees are 
formally constituted with terms of reference, 
and the majority of these committees 
are comprised of external members of 
the Court. The Committees undertake a 
review of their own terms of reference and 
effectiveness on an annual basis. The Court 
monitors attendance at governing body and 
committee meetings. A summary of this is 
reported below. The governing document 
of the University requires the Court of 
Governors also to establish an Academic 
Board which is comprised of academics, 
senior managers, and representatives of 
staff and students. There are no external 
members on this Board.

In line with Committee of University Chairs 
guidance, the Court of Governors carries out 
an effectiveness review of the way in which 
it conducts its business on a regular basis 
(at least every four years). Such a review 
was undertaken by an external independent 
adviser in 2017. The review concluded that 
the University “continues to have in place a 
comprehensive framework and structure of 
governance conforming to the requirements 
of the Higher Education Code of Governance 
and sector best practice” while also making 
recommendations for further strengthening 
of some governance processes. The Court 
discussed the conclusions of the review 
in March 2018 and agreed a list of action 
points at its July 2018 meeting. A further 
review of progress made against actions was 
undertaken in September 2019 and the next 
full review is due to take place in 2021.

Key action points following the effectiveness 
review include a reduction in the size of the 
governing body from 25 to 17 (from 19 to 
12 external governors) and the creation of 
the Student Experience Advisory Group. 
The Court has agreed that the reduction in 
membership must be carried out gradually 
in order to retain skills and diversity. The 
Court currently consists of 19 governors 
(including 14 external governors). In recent 
years the Nominations Committee, on behalf 
of the Court, has worked to ensure that the 
governing body has a good gender balance 
and diversity of backgrounds. 
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The Court agreed to reinforce its policy 
that reappointment of external governors is 
based on an assessment of their contribution 
and attendance and that the normal period 
of office is two terms (six years) except in 
special circumstances (e.g. for committee 
chairs). Other agreed actions include the 
strengthening of the relationship between 
the Court and the Students’ Union and the 
consideration of new technology to improve 
the accessibility of board papers.

As well as considering strategy, risk, 
compliance and regulatory matters, the 
Court receives regular briefings in order for 
governors to gain a good understanding of 
university life. Recent meetings have focused 
on the impact of the pandemic on students 
and staff and the issues raised by the Black 
Lives Matter movement.

Academic Board
The Academic Board is responsible for the 
academic life of the University in relation to 
teaching and research. It operates through 
a committee structure which also covers the 
six constituent colleges of the University. It 
meets three times a year.

Chair’s Committee
The Chair’s Committee meets on an ad-hoc 
basis to consider matters of complexity or 
urgency for which it has been given prior 
delegated authority to act on behalf of the 
Court of Governors.

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee, inter alia, 
recommends to the Court the University’s 
annual revenue and capital budgets and 
monitors performance in relation to the 

approved budgets. The Finance Committee 
can act for the Court on specific financial 
issues where delegated authority has been 
given. It meets three times a year at minimum, 
but has met more frequently during the past 
year, particularly in light of its role in reviewing 
budgets in the context of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Estates and Finance 
Committees have been given joint delegated 
responsibility to oversee the progress of the 
University’s current capital programme.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee, which 
normally meets three times a year, considers 
nominations for vacancies in the Court 
membership for external governors in 
accordance with the University’s Instrument 
and Articles of Government. It has approved 
an appointments process, including a role 
description for governors and a policy on 
reappointments, to assist it in undertaking 
this duty. The Committee advertises external 
governor vacancies when they arise, 
using the services of online non-executive 
recruitment specialists, the Advance HE 
portal, as well as UAL’s own recruitment site. 
Where appropriate, search agencies have 
also been used for particular roles.

The Committee regularly reviews the 
composition of the governing body and 
evaluates the specific skills, knowledge, and 
experience required to fill potential vacancies. 
The Committee also nominates governors 
to fill vacancies on Court committees. In 
considering the profile of the governing body 
and any future recruitment, the Nominations 
Committee has regard to the University’s 
Equal Opportunities Policy as set out within 
the Equality and Diversity Framework.
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Estates Committee
The Estates Committee is responsible for 
advising the Court and the Vice-Chancellor 
on matters relating to the University’s 
property portfolio and estates operations. 
The Committee meets three times a year 
at minimum. The Estates and Finance 
Committees have been given joint delegated 
responsibility to oversee the progress of the 
University’s current capital programme.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has four scheduled 
meetings a year, with the University’s 
external and internal auditors in attendance. 
The Committee monitors risk management 
arrangements and internal control. It 
considers detailed reports together with 
recommendations for the improvement 
of the University’s systems and control 
environment along with management’s 
responses and implementation plans. It also 
receives and considers reports from the OfS, 
and monitors adherence to the regulatory 
requirements.

Whilst senior executives attend meetings 
of the Audit Committee as necessary, they 
are not members of the Committee and 
the Committee meets with the internal 
and external auditors on their own for 

The Committee seeks to promote 
gender balance and ethnic diversity in its 
nominations and appointments.

The Committee has an awareness of 
the student and staff profile in making its 
recommendations. 

The Committee also considers potential 
reappointments of serving governors, having 
given due regard to their performance 
and ability to contribute to the Court of 
Governors in the light of the knowledge, 
skills and experience required within the 
governing body overall. In addition, it 
considers arrangements for elections to staff 
governor vacancies on behalf of the Court 
of Governors. In 2020 the staff governor 
elections were postponed for one year, due 
to the disruption in staffing in the context of 
the pandemic. 

Further Education Committee
The Further Education Committee meets 
three times a year. It monitors and reviews 
the University’s FE provision, as well as the 
quality assurance and self-assessment 
mechanisms. The Committee also reviews 
UAL Awarding Body’s performance and 
monitors its statements of compliance, on 
behalf of the Court of Governors.

People Strategy Committee
The People Strategy Committee is 
responsible for advising the Court on 
employment and other staffing matters 
for which the Court is responsible. The 
Committee ensures that the University has 
appropriate mechanisms in place to deliver 
effective consultation and negotiations with 
recognised trade unions. The Committee 
monitors the impact of the University’s 
People Strategy. As part of this, the 
Committee reviews staff development 
plans, risks and key performance 
indicators. The Committee also considers 
the University’s health and safety matters, 
equality and diversity matters, and the 
Access and Participation Plan, and makes 
recommendations thereon to the Court 
of Governors. The Committee normally 
meets three times a year. More recently the 
Committee has focused its attentions on 
student and staff wellbeing, particularly in 
light of the pandemic and the issues raised 
by the Black Lives Matter movement.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee meets 
twice a year to consider pay structures 
and to determine the remuneration of 
senior staff, including the Vice-Chancellor. 
The Committee also considers severance 
matters. Further information about the work 
of the Remuneration Committee is set within 
the Annual Remuneration Statement on 
page 50.
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independent discussions. The Committee 
reviews its own effectiveness via its annual 
report to Court and via the self-assessments it 
carries out from time to time. The Committee 
monitors the University’s top risks and 
mitigating measures via the receipt of regular 
reports and presentations.

Student Experience Advisory 
Group
This group was established in 2019, following 
the recommendations which arose from the 
governance effectiveness review. The group 
consists of external governors, staff members 
and the student governor. The group advises 
on the development and monitors the 
implementation of strategies and policies 
relating to the student experience.

A particular focus of the group’s first meetings 
has been academic enhancement, attainment 
differentials, and student mental health and 
wellbeing.

Conferments Committee
The Conferments Committee is responsible 
for considering honorary awards by the 
University and for partner colleges when 
requested to do so. It meets once or twice  
a year.

Committee of Independent 
Governors
This Committee is the appointing body 
for independent governors in certain 
circumstances as set out in the Instrument 
and Articles of Government.

Search Committee
In accordance with the Court’s responsibility 
for the appointment of the Vice-Chancellor, 
the Court appointed a Search Committee 
in February 2020, following Sir Nigel 
Carrington’s announcement of his intention 
to stand down from the Vice-Chancellor 
role. The Search Committee consisted of 
nine external governors and was tasked 
with overseeing the process of appointing 
Sir Nigel’s replacement. The Committee 
worked with an external search firm to ensure 
best practice recruitment procedures were 
followed and to enable staff and student input 
into the process, including representation 
on the interview panels. The appointment of 
James Purnell into the role was announced 
on Friday 23 October 2020.

Going Concern
The Court of Governors have prepared  
cash flow forecasts for the period up to  
31 July 2022. After reviewing these forecasts 
the Court of Governors is of the opinion 
that, taking account of severe but plausible 
downsides, including the anticipated impact 
of COVID-19 the Group and parent University 
will have sufficient funds to meet their liabilities 
as they fall due over the period of at least 
twelve months from the date of approval of 
the financial statements (the going concern 
assessment period). For this reason they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements. Further 
information is included in the statement of 
principle of accounting policies.
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Governors’ attendance records 2019 – 20

Governor Court meetings and away days* Committee meetings Email meetings

David Isaac CBE 4/4 Remuneration Committee: 2/2
Chair’s Committee: 1/1

Court: 2/3

Sir Nigel Carrington 4/4 Estates Committee: 4/4
Finance Committee: 5/5
People Strategy Committee: 4/4
Conferments Committee: 1/1
Nominations Committee: 3/3

Court: 3/3
Estates/Finance: 4/4
Conferments 1/1

Es Devlin OBE RDI 1/4 Conferments Committee: 0/1 Court: 1/3
Conferments: 1/1

David Fison 4/4 Estates Committee: 4/4
Finance Committee: 5/5
Chair’s Committee: 1/1

Court: 3/3
Estates/Finance: 4/4

Harry Gaskell 4/4 Estates Committee: 4/4
Finance Committee: 5/5
Chair’s Committee: 1/1

Court: 2/3
Estates/Finance: 4/4

Darla-Jane Gilroy 4/4 FE Committee: 1/2
Nominations Committee: 2/2

Court: 2/3
FE Committee: 1/1

Diane Gowland 4/4 FE Committee: 2/2
Chair’s Committee: 1/1

Court: 3/3
FE Committee: 2/2

Andrew Hochhauser QC 4/4 Audit Committee: 1/4
People Strategy Committee: 4/4
Nominations Committee: 4/4

Court: 3/3
Audit: 1/1

Anita Israel 4/4 Student Experience Advisory Group: 2/3 Court: 0/3

Kyran Joughin 2/4 Court: 2/3

Vanessa Kingori MBE 2/2 Court: 2/3

David Lindsell 4/4 Finance Committee: 5/5
Estates Committee: 4/4
People Strategy Committee: 4/4
Nominations Committee: 4/4
Remuneration Committee: 2/2
Chair’s Committee: 1/1

Court: 3/3
Estates/Finance: 4/4

Scott Mead 3/4 Audit Committee: 3/4
Conferments Committee: 1

Court: 2/3
Audit: 1/1
Conferments: 1/1

Louise Moore 3/4 People Strategy Committee: 4/4
Nominations Committee: 4/4
Student Experience Advisory Group: 3/3
Remuneration Committee: 2/2

Court: 3/3

Matthew Phull 2/4 Court: 1/3

Sim Scavazza 4/4 People Strategy Committee: 4/4
Chair’s Committee: 1/1
Student Experience Advisory Group: 3/3
Remuneration Committee: 2/2

Court: 3/3

Jane Slinn 3/4 Audit Committee: 3/4 Court: 2/3
Audit: 1/1

Nicolai Tangen 2/4 Finance Committee: 3/5
Estates Committee: 2/4

Court: 3/3
Estates/Finance: 2/4

Ben Terrett RDI 4/4 Nominations Committee: 3/4
Conferments Committee: 1/1
Student Experience Advisory Group: 2/3

Court: 3/3
Conferments: 1/1

Sir Eric Thomas 3/4 Finance Committee: 4/5
Estates Committee: 4/4

Court: 3/3
Estates/Finance:3/4

Alison Woodhams 2/4 Audit Committee: 4/4
FE Committee: 2/2

Court: 3/3
Audit:1/1
FE Committee: 2/2

*Note: In 2019–20 there were four ‘live’ Court meetings (in person / via video) and a further three Court meetings conducted via email. For the purpose of these statistics, the Court meeting and the Away Day of  
4 February are counted as one event.
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Annual  
remuneration  
statement

Background and Remit
The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for UAL’s policy on staff remuneration and, 
in particular, the remuneration of senior post 
holders. During 2019-20, the Committee 
consisted of four external governors: Sim 
Scavazza (Committee Chair), David Isaac 
CBE (Chair of Court), David Lindsell (Deputy 
Chair of Court, retired 31 August 2020) 
and Louise Moore. The Committee meets 
twice a year. At its meeting in October 
2019, the Committee reflected on its work 
over the year and reviewed its annual 
report, concluding that UAL’s remuneration 
practices achieve the elements of fair 
and appropriate remuneration set out in 
the CUC’s Higher Education Senior Staff 
Remuneration Code.

In 2019 – 20, the Committee’s terms of 
reference included:
—  Considering policy frameworks for senior 

staff remuneration and severance.
—  Considering the Vice-Chancellor’s annual 

appraisal and determining the Vice-
Chancellor’s pay and conditions.

—  Determining the pay envelope and 
salaries of senior post holders.

—  Determining the pay envelope for staff on 
individual contracts.

—  Monitoring the pay award for all other 
staff, following agreements at national 
level (from October 2019 onwards the 
Committee agreed it would only be 
required to approve a pay award for 
other staff if the award fell outside of 
the guidance issued by UCEA or the 
equivalent body)

—  Reviewing severance arrangements.

The Members of the Executive Board are 
deemed to be the senior post holders and, 
as such, are defined as: the Vice-Chancellor, 
the Deputy Vice-Chancellors, the Pro 
Vice-Chancellors, the Director of Human 
Resources, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
University Secretary and Registrar, the 
Director of Communications and External 
Affairs, and the Director of Planning.

Policy for Senior Staff 
(Excluding the Vice- 
Chancellor)
The Remuneration Committee has 
approved a Senior Staff Pay Structure 
which applies to staff with individual 
contracts (Deans and Directors of Services, 
Professors, Chairs and a number of 
other senior academic and professional/
administrative staff) and to senior post 
holders, excluding the Vice-Chancellor. The 
structure was last reviewed and updated in 
June 2018, when it was agreed that it would 
consist of ten salary bands, benchmarked 
against the mean results of the UCEA senior 
staff remuneration survey. The framework 
ensures that UAL’s pay is competitive for 
senior staff, whilst exercising control on 
overall costs.

Each June, the normal process is that 
the Remuneration Committee reviews 
the approach and cost envelope for 
the remuneration of senior post holders 
(excluding the Vice-Chancellor) and those 
on individual contracts. The following factors 
are amongst those normally considered 
in determining any increases to the cost 
envelope: the national pay award (as 
proposed by UCEA) and pay increments 
due to be received by graded staff; the level 
of pay increases in the wider economy and 
the rate of inflation; UAL budget forecasts; 
the need to demonstrate reasonable 
pay restraint; and the need to maintain 
appropriate differentials. The Committee 
also considers the public interest 
and the safeguarding of public funds 
alongside the interests of the University. 
Following determination of the envelope, 
recommendations on individual senior 
post holders are normally delegated to the 
Committee Chair and the Vice-Chancellor, 
based on an appraisal of each individual’s 
performance. These recommendations 
are then considered and approved by the 
Remuneration Committee at its autumn 
meeting. However, in June 2020, given the 
exceptional circumstances of the pandemic, 

the financial pressures faced by the HE sector, 
and the statements from UCEA on deferring 
negotiations on pay uplifts, it was agreed that, 
at that point in time, no allowance be made 
for an increase to the cost envelope for senior 
staff for the next financial year (2020 – 21). At 
the October meeting, it was confirmed that 
there would be no pay increase for senior staff 
in the 2020 – 21 financial year.

Policy for the Vice-Chancellor
Each year, at its autumn meeting, the 
Remuneration Committee receives feedback 
on the Vice-Chancellor’s appraisal meeting, 
which is carried out by the Chair of the Court 
of Governors. At the same meeting the 
Committee considers the pay review and 
objectives for the Vice-Chancellor for that 
year. In October 2019, the Remuneration 
Committee determined the Vice-Chancellor’s 
remuneration for 2019-20 based on: a 
comparison with pay awards made to all 
staff across UAL; a detailed benchmarking 
exercise, comparing remuneration across 
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the sector; and the Committee’s own 
assessment of the Vice-Chancellor’s 
performance during the previous year. 
The Committee was also mindful of the 
University’s strategic interests, the public 
interest and the importance of safeguarding 
public funds.

The detailed benchmarking data received 
each year enables the Committee to compare 
the Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration to levels 
set at other institutions. Comparisons are 
made against: all other London universities; 
a regional peer group; all UK universities; 
and the benchmark institutions as selected 
by the CUC. The Committee also considers 
the pay ratios of the Vice-Chancellor’s basic 
salary to: the overall staff median basic 
salary; the academic staff median basic 
salary; the professorial median basic salary; 
and the professional staff median basic 
salary. In October 2019, the Committee 
considered this information to determine the 
Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration for 2019-20. 

Further information about this is set out at 
note 7 to the accounts.

In addition, following the announcement in 
2020 that the current Vice-Chancellor would 
be standing down, in June the Committee 
considered and determined a provisional 
remuneration package for the next Vice-
Chancellor, to be used as part of the recruit 
process. The Committee determined the 
parameters of the remuneration package 
based on: a review of benchmarking data 
for the UK and international institutions; 
information about pay differentials 
within UAL and across the sector; and a 
consideration of the economic and political 
context both nationally and internationally. 
The Committee also considered and agreed 
the broad terms of employment of the future 
Vice-Chancellor, noting that the successful 
candidate would commence in the 2020-21 
year, when the final terms of employment 
and remuneration package would be 
approved. 

Additional Information
Further information about the 2019-20 pay 
ratios and the Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration 
is set out in note 7 to the accounts.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for monitoring the total amount of 
compensation for loss of office (severance 
payments, including voluntary arrangements) 
paid across the University each year and, 
where necessary, determining the severance 
arrangements for senior post holders. The 
Committee is also responsible for reporting to 
the governing body on severance payments, 
of any kind, made to senior post holders. 
Compensation for loss of office payable to 
one senior post holder for the year ended  
31 July 2020 was £130,795 (2019: none).

For all staff, the University has in place a 
contract of employment and the process for 
reviewing these is delegated to the Human 
Resources department. The standard UAL 
contract states that income from external 
sources can only be retained with the 
permission of the University (via the line 
manager). In relation to the Vice-Chancellor, 
no additional income was received from 
external sources during this period. The 
University also has in place an Expenses 
Policy for all staff, the operation of which is 
delegated to the Finance department.

The University has a policy for the payment 
of one-off performance-related bonuses: 
in certain circumstances bonuses may be 
paid to graded staff and staff on individual 
contracts; bonus payments are not made to 
senior post holders.

The Vice-Chancellor is not a member of 
the Remuneration Committee. The Vice-
Chancellor and the Director of Human 
Resources are invited to attend committee 
meetings to provide advice on certain items, 
but they are not present when their own 
remuneration is under consideration.
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Statement of Court of  
Governors’ responsibilities 
in respect of the annual  
report and the financial 
statements 

The Court of Governors is responsible 
for preparing the Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of the Office for Students’ 
terms and conditions of funding for higher 
education institutions and Research 
England’s terms and conditions of  
Research England grant and applicable  
law and regulations. 

The Court of Governors is required to 
prepare group and parent University 
financial statements in accordance with 
UK accounting standards and applicable 
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland. The terms and 
conditions of funding further require the 
financial statements to be prepared in 
accordance with the 2019 Statement of 
Recommended Practice – Accounting for 
Further and Higher Education, in accordance 
with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction issued by the Office for Students. 
The Court of Governors is required to 
prepare financial statements which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the group and parent University and of their 
income and expenditure, gains and losses 
and changes in reserves for that period. 

In preparing each of the group and parent 
University financial statements, the Court  
of Governors is required to: 
—  select suitable accounting policies and 

then apply them consistently
—  make judgements and estimates that  

are reasonable and prudent
—  state whether applicable UK accounting 

standards have been followed, subject 
to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements

—  assess the group and parent University’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern; and 

—  use the going concern basis of 
accounting unless it either intends 
to liquidate the group or the parent 
University or to cease operations, or  
has no realistic alternative but to do so 
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The Court of Governors is responsible 
for keeping proper accounts and proper 
records in relation to the accounts. They 
are responsible for such internal control as 
they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and have general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the 
assets of the group and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The Court of Governors is also  
responsible for ensuring that:
—  funds from whatever source administered 

by the Group or the University for specific 
purposes have been properly applied 
to those purposes and managed in 
accordance with relevant legislation

—  funds provided by the Office for Students 
and Research England have been 
applied in accordance with the terms and 
conditions attached to them

—  ensuring that there are appropriate 
financial and management controls in 
place to safeguard public funds and funds 
from other sources; and

—  securing the economical, efficient and 
effective management of the University’s 
resources and expenditure

The Court of Governors is responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
University’s website. Legislation in the UK 
governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements 
of University of the Arts, London (“the 
University”) for the year ended 31 July 2020 
which comprise the Consolidated and 
University Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure, Consolidated 
and University Statement of Changes in 
Reserves, Consolidated and University 
Balance Sheet and Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement and related notes, including the 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 
–  give a true and fair view of the state of 

the Group’s and the University’s affairs as 
at 31 July 2020, and of the Group’s and 
the University’s income and expenditure, 
gains and losses and changes in 
reserves, and of the Group’s cash flows, 
for the year then ended; 

–  have been properly prepared in 
accordance with UK accounting 
standards, including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland, and with 
the 2019 Statement of Recommended 
Practice – Accounting for Further and 
Higher Education; and

–  meet the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction dated 25 October 2019 issued 
by the Office for Students.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities are described below. We 
have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 

under, and are independent of the group in 
accordance with, UK ethical requirements 
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate 
basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 
The Court of Governors has prepared the 
financial statements on the going concern 
basis as they do not intend to liquidate the 
Group or the University or to cease their 
operations, and as they have concluded 
that the Group and the University’s financial 
position means that this is realistic. They 
have also concluded that there are no 
material uncertainties that could have 
cast significant doubt over their ability to 
continue as a going concern for at least 
a year from the date of approval of the 
financial statements (“the going concern 
period”).

We are required to report to you if we 
have concluded that the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is 
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed 
material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt over the use of that basis 
for a period of at least a year from the date 
of approval of the financial statements. In 
our evaluation of the Court of Governors’ 
conclusions, we considered the inherent 
risks to the Group’s business model, and 
analysed how those risks might affect 
the Group and the University’s financial 
resources or ability to continue operations 
over the going concern period. We have 
nothing to report in these respects. 

Independent auditor’s 
report to the Court of 
Governors of University 
of the Arts London 

Report on the audit  
of the financial  
statements
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However, as we cannot predict all future 
events or conditions and as subsequent 
events may result in outcomes that are 
inconsistent with judgements that were 
reasonable at the time they were made, 
the absence of reference to a material 
uncertainty in this auditor’s report is not a 
guarantee that the Group or the University 
will continue in operation. 

Other information 
The Court of Governors is responsible for 
the other information, which comprises 
the Strategic Review, Governance Review 
and Corporate Governance Statement and 
statement of internal control. Our opinion on 
the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, accordingly, we do 
not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider 
whether, based on our financial statements 
audit work, the information therein is 
materially misstated or inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our audit knowledge. 
Based solely on that work, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the 
other information. 

Court of Governors 
responsibilities 
As explained more fully in their statement 
set out on page 52, the Court of Governors 
is responsible for: the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; 
such internal control as it determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error; assessing the Group and parent 
University’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern; and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless it 
either intends to liquidate the Group or the 
parent University or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in 
an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but does 

not guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually 
or in aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is 
provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 

 
Report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements 
We are required to report on the following 
matters by the Accounts Direction dated 
25 October 2019 issued by the Office for 
Students (the Accounts Direction).

In our opinion, in all material respects:
–  funds from whatever source administered 

by the Group or the University for specific 
purposes have been properly applied 
to those purposes and managed in 
accordance with relevant legislation; and

–  funds provided by the Office for Students, 
UK Research and Innovation (including 
Research England), the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency and the Department for 
Education have been applied in accordance 
with the relevant terms and conditions.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by exception 
We are required by the Accounts Direction 
to report to you where the University has 
an access and participation plan that has 
been approved by the Office for Students’ 
director of fair access and participation and 
the results of our audit work indicate that the 
Group’s and the University’s expenditure on 
access and participation activities for the 
financial year disclosed in Note 8b has been 
materially misstated.

We are also required by the Accounts 
Direction to report to you where the results 
of our audit work indicate that the Group’s 
and the University’s grant and fee income, as 
disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements 
has been materially misstated.

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

The purpose of our audit 
work and to whom we owe 
our responsibilities 
This report is made solely to the Court 
of Governors, in accordance with the 
Articles, Charters, Statutes or Ordinances 
of the institution. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the 
Court of Governors those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the University and the Court 
of Governors for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Fleur Nieboer 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP  
Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL

27 November 2020 
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  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 Notes

Income     
Tuition fees and education contracts 1 274,595 267,187 253,152 241,768
Funding body grants 2 21,359 21,359 22,700 22,700
Research grants and contracts 3 2,021 2,021 1,418 1,418
Other income 4 32,620 33,397 39,468 41,138
Investment income 5 2,731 2,727 2,856 2,851
Donations and endowments 6 2,215 2,215 2,036 2,036

Total income  335,541 328,906 321,630 311,911

     
Expenditure
Staff costs  7  209,804   203,000  186,740 179,050
Other operating expenses 8a  108,732   107,631  114,806 112,668
Depreciation  11  3,835   3,835  3,553 3,553
Interest and other finance costs 9  4,817   4,762  5,348 5,313

Total expenditure   327,188   319,228  310,447 300,584

     
Surplus before other gains and losses   8,353  9,678  11,183 11,327
Gain on investments 21  67   67  330 330

Surplus for the year   8,420   9,745  11,513 11,657
Actuarial loss in respect of pension schemes 27  (94,164) (89,904)  (6,671) (6,279)

Total comprehensive income for the year  (85,744) (80,159)  4,842 5,378

Represented by:       
Endowment comprehensive income for the year  77 77 381 381
Restricted comprehensive income for the year  117 117  174 174
Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year  (85,632) (80,047)  4,592 5,128
Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year  (306) (306)  (305) (305)

  (85,744) (80,159)  4,842 5,378

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities.

Consolidated and University Statement  
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Year Ended 31 July 2020
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Consolidated and University Statement  
of Changes in Reserves 
Year Ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated  Income and expenditure account  Revaluation Total
 Endowment Restricted  Unrestricted reserve
 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
 
Balance at 1 August 2018  4,725   1,745   315,379   21,283   343,132 

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement  430   851   10,232  –  11,513
Other comprehensive income –  –  6,671  – 6,671 
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve –  –  305 (305) – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (49)  (677)   726  – –
  
Total comprehensive income for the year  381   174   4,592  (305)   4,842 

Balance at 1 August 2019  5,106   1,919   319,971   20,978   347,974 
 
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement  167   786   7,467  –  8,420  
   
Other comprehensive income – –  (94,164) – (94,164)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve – – 306 (306) – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (90)  (669)   759  – –
 
Total comprehensive income for the year  77   117  (85,632)  (306)  (85,744) 

Balance at 31 July 2020  5,183   2,036   234,339   20,672   262,230 

University  Income and expenditure account  Revaluation Total
 Endowment Restricted  Unrestricted reserve
 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Balance at 1 August 2018  4,725   1,745   315,742   21,283   343,495 
 
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement  430   851   10,376  –  11,657 
Other comprehensive income – – (6,279)  – (6,279) 
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve –  – 305 (305) – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (49) (677) 726 –  – 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year  381   174   5,128  (305)   5,378 
 
Balance at 1 August 2019  5,106   1,919   320,870   20,978   348,873 
 
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement  167   786   8,792  –  9,745 
Other comprehensive income – –  (89,904) – (89,904)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve – –  306 (306) –
Release of restricted funds spent in year (90) (669) 759 – – 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year  77   117  (80,047)  (306)  (80,159) 
 
Balance at 31 July 2020  5,183   2,036   240,823   20,672   268,714 
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The financial statements were approved by the Court of Governors on 24 November 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

 
 

   
Sir Nigel Carrington David Isaac CBE
Vice-Chancellor Chair of the Court of Governors  
 

  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 
Non-current assets
Negative goodwill 10 (4,077) (4,077) (4,166) (4,166)
Fixed assets 11 463,289 463,619 409,626 409,956
Heritage assets 11/12 22,400 22,400 22,400 22,400

  481,612 481,942 427,860 428,190

Current assets
Stock 14 485 485 469 469
Trade and other receivables 15 15,159 14,998 13,354 13,185
Investments 16 4,963 4,963 89,949 89,948
Cash and cash equivalents 17 229,651 229,353 172,258 171,750

  250,258 249,799 276,030 275,352

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (76,897) (78,120) (75,599) (77,032)
 
Net current assets   173,361   171,679  200,431 198,320

 
Total assets less current liabilities   654,973   653,621  628,291 626,510

 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (95,598)   (95,598) (100,773) (100,773)
 
Provisions
Pension provisions 20 (291,329) (283,493) (175,647) (172,967))
Other provisions 20 (5,816) (5,816) (3,897) (3,897)

Total net assets   262,230 268,714 347,974 348,873

 
Restricted reserves 
Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve 21 5,183 5,183 5,106 5,106
Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve 22 2,036 2,036 1,919 1,919

Unrestricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted 22 234,339 240,823 319,971 320,870
Revaluation reserve  20,672 20,672 20,978 20,978

Total reserves  262,230 268,714 347,974 348,873

Consolidated and University Balance Sheet  
at 31 July 2020
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  2020 2019
 Notes £000 £000

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year  8,420 11,513

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation  11  3,835 3,553
Benefit on acquisition of Colleges released to Income  10  (89)  (89)
Gain on investments  21  (67)  (330) 
(Increase)/decrease in stock 14  (16)  11
(Increase)/decrease in debtors  15  (1,805)  583
Increase in creditors 18/19 796  10,039
Pension charges less contributions payable 27  21,518  21,959
(Decrease)/ increase in other provisions  20   1,919  (248)

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income  5  (2,731)  (2,856))
Interest payable 9  1,214  1,420  
Capital grant income  (1,180)  (2,110)

Net cash inflow from operating activities  31,814  43,445 

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital grants receipts  1,180  2,110
Withdrawal of deposits  85,053  23,634
Investment income  2,731  2,856
Payments made to acquire fixed assets  (57,498)  (316)

 
  31,466  28,284
    
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid  (1,214)  (1,420))
Repayment of amounts borrowed  (4,673)  (4,674) 

 
  (5,887)  (6,094)
      
  
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year  57,393  65,635
      
  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 17 172,258  106,623
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 17 229,651  172,258 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2020
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Basis of preparation
The Group and parent University 
financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and 
the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education (2019 edition). They have also 
been prepared in accordance with the 
‘carried forward’ powers and duties of 
previous legislation (Further and Higher 
Education Act 1992 and the Higher 
Education Act 2004) and the new powers 
of the Higher Education and Research 
Act 2017 during the transition period to 
31 July 2019, the Accounts Direction 
issued by the Office for Students (OfS), the 
Terms and conditions of funding for higher 
education institutions issued by the Office 
for Students and the Terms and conditions 
of Research England Grant. 

Going concern
The Group and parent University’s 
activities, together with the factors likely to 
affect its future development, performance 
and position, are set out in the Strategic 
Report which forms part of the Court of 
Governors Report. The Court of Governor’s 
Report also describes the financial position 
of the Institution, its cash flows, liquidity 
position and borrowing facilities. 

The financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis which 
the Court of Governors consider to be 
appropriate for the following reasons.

The Court of Governors have prepared 
cash flow forecasts for the period up to  
31 July 2022. After reviewing these 
forecasts the Court of Governors is of 
the opinion that, taking account of severe 
but plausible downsides, including the 
anticipated impact of COVID-19 the  
Group and parent University will have 
sufficient funds to meet their liabilities as 
they fall due over the period of at least 
twelve months from the date of approval of 
the financial statements (the going concern 
assessment period). 

As the pandemic was emerging, the 
University considered a range of scenarios 
and modelled their possible impact on the 
University’s financial performance. Having 
considered this scenario analysis the Court 
of Governors is confident that the University 
is in a strong position to withstand the likely 
impact of these factors. In making this 

Statement of principal 
accounting policies
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Consequently, the Court of Governors 
is confident that the Group and parent 
University will have sufficient funds to 
continue to meet their liabilities as they fall 
due for at least 12 months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements 
and therefore have prepared the financial 
statements on a going concern basis. 

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include 
the University and all its subsidiaries for the 
financial year to 31 July 2020. Intra-group 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements do 
not include the income and expenditure of 
the Students’ Union as the University does 
not exert control or dominant influence over 
policy decisions. 

Income recognition
Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure 
which is not a discount and credited to the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure over the period 
in which students are studying. Where the 
amount of the tuition fee is reduced by 
a discount for prompt payment, income 
receivable is shown net of the discount. 
Bursaries and scholarships are accounted  
for gross as expenditure and not deducted 
from income. 

Income from the sale of goods or services 
is credited to the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
when the goods or services are supplied to 
the external customers or the terms of the 
contract have been satisfied.

Funds the University receives and disburses 
as paying agent on behalf of a funding 
body are excluded from the income and 
expenditure of the University where the 
University is exposed to minimal risk or enjoys 
minimal economic benefit related to the 
transaction. Investment income is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure on a receivable basis.

Grant funding
Government revenue grants including funding 
council block grant and research grants are 
recognised in income over the periods in 
which the University recognises the related 
costs for which the grant is intended to 
compensate. Where part of a government 
grant is not expended it is carried forward as 
deferred income within creditors.

Grants (including research grants) from 
non-government sources are recognised in 
income when the University is entitled to the 
income and performance-related conditions 
have been met. Income received in advance 
of performance-related conditions being 
met is recognised as deferred income within 

assessment the University has considered 
the following:
–  Impact on liquidity and financing. At the 

balance sheet date the University has a high 
level of liquid resources. It is not expected 
that the University will require further loan 
finance in the next twelve months other 
than the arrangements already agreed and 
in place. All banking covenants will be met 
for the year ended 31 July 2020 and our 
modelling indicates that this is expected 
to be the case for the year ended 31 July 
2021. 

–  Home and EU student numbers for 2020/21 
are above target levels. International, PG 
and FE student numbers are likely to be 
below target level, However, the University 
has planning, budgeting and forecasting 
processes in place which can be flexed 
as necessary to limit the impact to the 
University’s financial performance.

–  Our academic delivery model for 2020/21 is 
based on blended delivery, but preparations 
have been made to go fully online should 
the need arise, for either all or part of our 
academic community 

–  Governance structures have been adapted 
so that effective decisions can be taken 
promptly and efficiently.

–  A voluntary severance scheme was 
completed during the year ended 31 July 
2020, to address our fixed staff costs and 
this will generate significant savings going 
forward.

–  We are aware of our dependence on certain 
geographical markets and are continuing to 
work to diversify our income streams

–  There is active monitoring of key markets 
such as China to assess emerging 
geopolitical issues or changing risks. This 
approach will enable the University to react 
to legal, political, economic or social issues 
as they arise.
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creditors in the balance sheet and released 
to income as the conditions are met.

Donations and endowments
Donations and endowments are recognised 
in income when the University is entitled 
to the funds. Where the donor imposes 
restrictions, income is retained in restricted 
reserves until such time as it is utilised in 
line with such restrictions, at which point 
the income is released to general reserves 
through a reserve transfer. Investment 
income and appreciation of endowments 
is recorded in income in the year in which it 
arises and as either restricted or unrestricted 
income according to the terms of the 
concerned endowment fund.

There are four main types of donations and  
endowments identified within reserves:
1.  Restricted donations – the donor has 

specified that the donation must be used 
for a particular objective

2.  Unrestricted permanent endowments –  
the donor has specified that the fund is to 
be permanently invested to generate an 
income stream for the general benefit  
of the University

3.  Restricted expendable endowments – the 
donor has specified a particular objective 
other than the purchase or construction  
of tangible fixed assets, and the University  
has the power to use the capital for that 
particular objective

4.  Restricted permanent endowments –  
the donor has specified that the fund is  
to be permanently invested to generate  
an income stream to be applied to a 
particular objective.

Capital grants
Government capital grants are recognised 
in income over the expected useful life of the 
asset. Other capital grants are recognised in 
income when the University is entitled to  
the funds subject to any performance  
related conditions.

Accounting for  
retirement benefits 
The three principal pension schemes for 
the University’s staff are the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme (USS), the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
The schemes are defined benefit schemes 
which are externally funded and contracted 
out of the State Second Pension (S2P). 
Each fund is valued every three to five years 
by professionally qualified independent 
actuaries.

Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which the 
University pays fixed contributions into 
a separate entity and will have no legal 
or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income 
statement in the periods during which 
services are rendered by employees. 
The TPS and USS are treated as defined 
contribution plans, since the University is 
unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of these schemes.

Defined benefit plan
Defined benefit plans are post-employment 
benefit plans other than defined contribution 
plans. Under defined benefit plans, the 
University has an obligation to provide 
agreed benefits to current and former 
employees who are members of the scheme, 
and actuarial risk (that benefits will cost more 
or less than expected) and investment risk 
(that returns on assets set aside to fund 
the benefits will differ from expectations) 
are borne, in substance, by the University. 
Accordingly, the Group recognises a liability 
for its obligations under defined benefit plans 
net of plan assets. This net defined benefit 
liability is measured as the estimated amount 
of benefit that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and 
prior periods, discounted to determine its 
present value, less the fair value (at bid price) 
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of plan assets. The calculation is performed 
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit 
credit method. 

Employment benefits
Short-term employment benefits such as 
salaries and compensated absences are 
recognised as an expense in the year in 
which the employees render service to the 
University. Any unused benefits are accrued 
and measured as the additional amount the 
University expects to pay as a result of the 
unused entitlement.

Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are 
charged on a straight line basis over the  
lease term. 

The University holds a number of nomination 
agreements with student accommodation 
service providers. The University has 
assessed the agreements and is treating 
them as operating leases. The agreements 
guarantee that University students will 
occupy a minimum proportion of rooms 
within a property over a year. The operation 
of each agreement varies. Depending on 
the occupancy level attained against the 
guaranteed occupancy level, the University 
will either receive surplus income from the 
service provider or make a payment to cover 
under-occupancy.

Where information is available on the rent 
collected from students by the service 
provider, and the service provider is 
considered to be acting as an agent for the 

University, the net payment or receipt is 
grossed-up to show income and expenditure 
separately in the financial statements. Where 
this information is not readily obtainable by 
the University, a net payment is recognised in 
expenditure and a receipt is recognised  
in income.

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies are recorded at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into sterling either at year-end rates 
or, where there are related forward foreign 
exchange contracts, at contract rates. The 
resulting exchange differences are dealt 
with in the determination of income and 
expenditure for the financial year.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Where parts of a 
fixed asset have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of  
fixed assets.

Land and property
The cost of land and property inherited on 
incorporation cannot readily be ascertained 
and is therefore included on the basis of 
valuations carried out in November 1989 
using the assumption that the buildings will 
continue in educational use. Other land and 
buildings are included in the balance sheet  
at cost.
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Freehold land is not depreciated. Freehold 
buildings are depreciated over their expected 
useful life to the University of up to 50 years. 
Where property held is listed, it is deemed 
to have an infinite useful life and thus not 
depreciated. Leasehold land and buildings 
are amortised over 50 years or, if shorter, 
the period of the lease. Improvements to 
freehold buildings are depreciated  
over 10 to 20 years.

Where land and buildings are acquired with 
the aid of specific grants they are capitalised 
and depreciated as above. 

Buildings under construction are accounted 
for at cost, based upon the value of 
architects’ certificates and other direct 
costs incurred during the year. They are not 
depreciated until they are brought into use. 
Finance costs which are directly attributable 
to the construction of land and buildings are 
not capitalised as part of the cost of  
those assets.

Equipment
Equipment costing less than £40,000  
per individual item is written off to the  
income and expenditure account in the 
year of acquisition. All other equipment is 
capitalised at cost. Capitalised equipment  
is depreciated over its useful economic life  
as follows:  
Computer equipment:  33% per annum 
Fixtures, fittings and  
other equipment:  20% per annum
Where equipment is acquired with the aid of 
specific grants it is capitalised and depreciated 
in accordance with the above policy.

Heritage assets
Assets that are of historical, scientific,  
artistic or technological value and are held 
and maintained by the University primarily  
for their contribution to knowledge and 
culture, are recognised in the balance  
sheet at valuation. The value of the assets 
 is periodically reviewed to ensure they  
are adequately stated. Gains and losses  
on revaluation are recognised in the 
statement of recognised gains and losses. 
No depreciation is charged on heritage 
assets as they are expected to have a  
long economic life. Maintenance costs  
are recognised when incurred.

Intangible assets and goodwill
Negative goodwill arising in respect of 
the activities of colleges transferred to the 
University is included within fixed assets. 
Negative goodwill is amortised over the 
service lives of long life assets to which the 
goodwill is attributed. 

Investments
Non current asset investments are stated  
at cost less any impairment.

Stock
Stocks are stated at the lower of their cost 
and net realisable value. Where necessary, 
provision is made for obsolete, slow moving 
and defective stocks.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits 
repayable on demand and overdrafts.  
Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash within 90 days  
with insignificant risk of change in value.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the financial 
statements when:
(a)  the University has a present obligation 

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event;

(b)  it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and

(c)  a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.
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The amount recognised as a provision is 
determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
risks specific to the liability.

Taxation
The University is an exempt charity within the 
meaning of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. 
It is therefore a charity within the meaning of 
Para 1 of schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010 
and accordingly, the University is exempt 
from taxation in respect of income or capital 
gains received within categories covered 
by section 478–488 of the Corporation Tax 
Act 2010 (CTA 2010) or section 256 of the 
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to 
the extent that such income or gains are 
applied to exclusively charitable purposes.

The University is partially exempt in respect of 
Value Added Tax, so that it can only recover 
a minor element of VAT charged on its inputs. 
Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the 
costs of such inputs and added to the cost of 
tangible fixed assets as appropriate.

The University’s subsidiaries are liable to 
Corporation Tax in the same way as any other 
commercial organisation.

Assumptions have also been made regarding 
the remaining useful economic lives of 
the buildings. Consideration has been 
given to both the physical and functional 
obsolescence of the building and its 
components.
 
Annual leave accrual
The University has provided for the cost  
of unused annual leave of its employees  
at the end of the financial year. For non-
academic staff the accrual was based  
on the actual leave carried forward at 31 
July. The University has assumed that for 
academic staff a consistent level of leave 
similar to other staff is carried forward by 
each member of staff.
 
Financial instruments
The University has entered into a number of 
interest rate caps. These caps have been 
valued at the year-end using valuations as 
provided by our bank.

Heritage assets
Heritage assets are valued based on 
assumptions made by external valuers.  
Asset valuations are determined by the 
valuer’s opinion on the physical condition 
of items and their judgement of market 
conditions.

Retirement benefit obligations
In determining the valuation of defined benefit 
schemes’ assets and liabilities, a number of 
key estimates and assumptions have been 
made in relation to: 
– inflation rate; 
– life expectancy; 
– discount rate; and 
– salary and pension growth rates.

The University is exposed to risks through its 
defined benefit schemes if actual experience 
differs to the estimates used and through 
volatility in the plan assets. In response to 
the UK Government’s 2019 announcement to 
make changes to RPI from 2030, a change 
in methodology has been applied to the 
calculation of the CPI rate used when valuing 
the LGPS’s pension schemes defined benefit 
obligations. The estimate of the impact 
of this change in methodology is a £27.5 
million increase in the total pension liabilities 
balance, as the CPI assumption is now 0.2% 
higher than it would have been under the 
methodology adopted as at 31 July 2019. 
Details on the CPI used, other estimates and 
associated sensitivities are included in note 27.

Reserves
Reserves are classified as restricted or 
unrestricted. Restricted endowment reserves 
include balances which, through endowment 
to the University, are held as a permanently 
restricted fund which the University must  
hold in perpetuity.

Other restricted reserves include balances 
where the donor has designated a specific 
purpose and therefore the University is 
restricted in the use of these funds.

Non-basic financial 
instruments 
As part of managing its interest cost on 
variable-rate loans, the Group has entered 
into a number of fixed-rate interest rate caps. 
Following the provisions of both Section 11 
and Section 12 of FRS 102 in full, these caps 
are at market value and, by default, the gain 
(or loss) on remeasurement is recognised as  
financing income (or costs).

Judgements and estimates

Fixed assets
Buildings have been apportioned between 
two components: property and fixtures, 
fittings and equipment. The apportionment 
of the costs between these components was 
based on the elemental cost breakdowns 
of the projects to establish the appropriate 
proportion of costs that should be attributed 
to the identified components.
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1. Tuition fees and education contracts  2020 2020 2019  2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

HE home and EU students   95,941  95,941  94,652  94,652 
HE international students  137,783  137,783  116,221  116,216 
FE home and EU students  689  689  707  707 
FE international students   15,275  15,275  14,174  14,174 
Non-credit bearing courses  15,712  8,304  19,841  8,462 
Exam and registration fees  9,195  9,195  7,557  7,557 

   274,595  267,187  253,152  241,768 

2. Funding body grants

Recurrent grant
    
Office for Students (OfS)    9,277  9,277  10,934  10,934
Research England  3,817  3,817  3,668  3,668 
Education and Skills Funding Agency  3,244  3,244  2,710  2,710 

Specific grants
OfS capital grants – buildings  1,051  1,051  990   990  
OfS capital grants – equipment   129  129  1,120   1,120 
Higher Education Innovation Fund  3,841  3,841  3,278   3,278 
       
  21,359  21,359  22,700  22,700 
     

3. Research grants and contracts

Research councils  1,647  1,647  902  902 
Research charities  166  166  153  153 
Government (UK and overseas)  119  119  197  197 
Industry and commerce  –  –  10  10 
Other   89  89  156  156 

  2,021  2,021  1,418  1,418 

Grants and Fees Income  
 
Note 1–3 can be re-analysed as follows: 

Grant income from the OfS  10,457  10,457  13,044  13,044 
Grant income from other bodies  12,923  12,923  11,074  11,074
Fee income for research awards  732 732 439 439 
Fee income from non-qualifying courses   40,871  33,463  42,279  30,900 
Fee income for taught awards  232,992  232,992  210,434 210,429 

Total Grant and Fee income  297,975  290,567  277,270  265,886

Notes to 
the accounts
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4. Other income  2020 2020 2019  2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Residences and catering   23,193  23,193  30,013  30,013 
Retail operations  1,398  1,398  1,943  1,942 
Other revenue grants  5,026  4,893  2,004  2,004 
Other income  2,914  3,824  5,419  7,090
Release of benefit arising from acquisitions 10  89  89  89 89 

  32,620  33,397  39,468  41,138 

5. Investment income

Investment income on endowments 21  100  100  99  99  
Other investment income  2,631  2,627  2,757  2,752 

 
  2,731  2,727  2,856  2,851 
 
 
6. Donations and endowments

Donations with restrictions 22  786  786  851  851 
Unrestricted donations  1,429  1,429  1,185  1,185 
       
  2,215  2,215  2,036  2,036 

7. Staff costs  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Salaries  151,105 146,247 138,006 132,244
Social security costs  14,098 13,699 12,959 12,463
Movement on USS provision  (897) (897) 1,187  1,187 
Pension costs   42,334 40,991 34,588 33,156
 
Sub-total  206,640 200,040 186,740 179,050

Restructuring costs  3,164 2,960 – –
 
Total   209,804 203,000 186,740 179,050

Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor:   2020   2019 
   £  £
Salary   280,228  275,273 
Benefits in kind   85  240
 
   280,313  275,513
 
The University made no pension contributions on behalf of the Vice-Chancellor (2019: nil).

The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Court of Governors meet regularly with the Vice-Chancellor and a formal appraisal takes 
place annually. Following this, Remuneration Committee considers the Vice-Chancellor’s performance and remuneration (further 
information about the Remuneration Committee is set out within the Annual Remuneration Statement on page 50).
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In determining the Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration at its meeting in October 2019, the Remuneration Committee considered that 
the University had had a successful year in terms of student recruitment and was in a strong financial position, which supported 
its plans to redevelop its estate. The Committee considered the Vice-Chancellor’s achievements against his objectives for the 
previous year, and highlighted his strong performance, particularly given the challenges faced by the University in delivering its 
ambitious capital programme and in preparing for Brexit.  

Benchmark data showed that the Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration was lower than that of a significant proportion of other UK 
vice-chancellors (76th position of 124, according to the previous year’s data) and in the lower middle quartile of London peer 
institutions, despite the University being in the top quartile by size of UK universities, and being Europe’s largest specialist art 
and design university, ranked second in the world for art and design (QS World University Rankings). It was noted that the Vice-
Chancellor did not participate in the pension scheme and had not received any bonuses. His pay increases had consistently been 
below the staff average at UAL since his appointment in 2008.

       
Ratios of Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration to staff pay medians: 
  
  2020 2020 2019 2019
  University Consolidated University Consolidated
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Basic Pay  6.7:1 6.9:1 7.1: 1 7.2 : 1
 
Total remuneration  5.9:1 5.9:1 6.1: 1 6.2 : 1

Staff who are not on a fixed salary (generally hourly paid casual staff) are excluded from this calculation as a comparable salary 
cannot be determined in respect of them.

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions and bonuses are as follows:

    Number of employees 
   2020  2019
   No.  No.
    
£100,000 to £104,999   5  3
£105,000 to £109,999   2  2
£110,000 to £114,999   3  2 
£115,000 to £119,999   1  3
£120,000 to £124,999   4  – 
£125,000 to £129,999   –  –
£130,000 to £134,999   –  1
£135,000 to £139,999   2  – 
£140,000 to £144,999   3  3 
£145,000 to £149,999   –  – 
£150,000 to £154,999   –  – 
£155,000 to £159,999   –  – 
£160,000 to £164,999   –  – 
£165,000 to £169,999   –  1 
£170,000 to £174,999   1  1 
£175,000 to £179,999   1  1

   22  17
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Average staff numbers by major category:    Number of employees 
   2020  2019
   No.  No.
 
Teaching departments   1,442  1,392
Teaching support services   761  720
Student services   89  82
Central services   305  293
Premises   132  124
Residences and catering   52  52
Research contracts   18  13
Other   64  59

   2,863  2,735

Key management personnel
The University’s Operating Board are the key management personnel who have authority and responsibility for planning,  
directing and controlling the activities of the University. Amounts paid to key management personnel are as follows:

    2020  2019 
    £’000  £’000

Staffing Costs (excluding Vice-Chancellor)    3,801  3,509
Number of Staff    30  28

Compensation for loss of office:

2020 

 Number Amount Number Amount Number  Total 
 of staff £ of staff £ of staff  £

Voluntary Severance Scheme 111 2,959,965 9 203,604 120 3,163,569
Other Severance 14 352,988 3 100,969 17 453,957 
Redundancy 88 537,333 – – 88 537,333
 
Total 213 3,850,286 12 304,573 225 4,154,859

2019 

 Number Amount Number Amount  Total 
 of staff £ of staff £  £

Severance costs 23 470,345 – –  470,345 
Redundancy costs 53 231,481 – –  231,481
 
Total 76 701,826 – –  701,826
 

University Subsidiaries Consolidated  

University Subsidiaries Consolidated 
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Court Members     
The University’s Court of Governors are trustees for charitable law purposes. Due to the nature of the University’s operations and 
the composition of the Court, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will 
take place with organisations in which a member of the Court may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in 
which a member of Court may have an interest, including those identified below, are conducted at arms length and in accordance 
with the University’s Financial Regulations and usual procurement procedures. 

The University has five Staff Governors who are paid as employees of the University (2019: five Staff Governors)  
However, they do not receive additional remuneration for acting in the capacity of Governor.

No Governors have received any remuneration/waived payments from the group during the year (2019 – none) 

The total expenses paid was £707 to one governor (2019: £790 to three governors).  
This represents travel and subsistence incurred in attending Court of Governors meetings in their official capacity.
 

8a. Analysis of total expenditure by activity  2020 2020 2019 2019 
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Academic departments  16,225 15,143 22,092 19,996
Academic services  19,751 19,751 21,351 21,351
Student services  1,987 1,987 1,863 1,863
Educational expenditure  6,140 6,140 6,092 6,092
Central services  7,444 7,444 2,789 2,790
Premises  27,905 27,905 31,112 31,112
Residences and catering  26,494 26,494 26,614 26,617
Research contracts  863 863 664 6643
Other services rendered  1,923 1,904 2,229 2,183
 
  108,732 107,631 114,806 112,668

Other operating expenses include:
External auditors remuneration in respect of audit services  102  63
External auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services 164  128
Operating lease rentals – land and property  22,520  22,547

Auditors remuneration is stated exclusive of VAT.
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Year Ended 31 July 2020 University and consolidated

8b. Access and Participation Total Costs   Staff costs Other costs  Total
   
Access Investment    2,014   410   2,425 
Financial Support    –  3,133   3,133 
Disability Support    1,081   598   1,679 
Research and Evaluation     32  –  32 
 
    3,127   4,142   7,269 

Key assumptions:     
The disclosure note shows expenditure only and does not reflect any grants/allowances received. 
Staff costs are calculated on an actual basis by referencing each individual’s pay plus employer’s NI and pension costs. Discussions 
with employees were held in order to work out the best estimate of their time allocation if their involvement was less than 100%. 
The University has included expenditure relating to adjustments to the Estates needed to support student mobility.
The actual spend for categories for Access Investment and Financial Support was below the initial plan. 
This was due to the outreach programme incurring lower costs due to being delivered remotely. Means-tested UAL bursaries were 
also lower than expected as less students qualified for support.

A link to the University’s publicly available access and participation plan is below     
https://www.arts.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/70451/University-of-the-Arts-London-Access-and-Participation-Plan-2019-20.
pdf 

9. Interest and other finance costs  2020 2020 2019 2019 
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Loan interest  1,214 1,214 1,420 1,420
Exchange differences  25 25 27 26
Decrease in fair value of derivatives  12 12 127 127
Interest on net defined benefit liability 27 3,566 3,511 3,774 3,740
 
  4,817 4,762 5,348 5,313

 
10. Negative goodwill 
 
University and consolidated £’000 

Fair Value arising on acquisitions 
At 31 July 2019 and at 31 July 2020 14,971
  
Released to income and expenditure account 
At 1 August 2019 (10,805)
Release for year (89) 
 
At 31 July 2020 (10,894)

Net Book Value  
At 31 July 2020 4,077
 
At 31 July 2019 4,166
 
Negative goodwill arose in respect of the assets and activities of the colleges transfered to the University in prior years.

The amortisation period is commensurate with the recovery of the non-monetary assets acquired. 
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 11. Fixed assets

Consolidated
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2019 405,445 28,450 12,236 15,288 – 22,400 483,819
Additions  2,011 30,000 544 239 24,704 – 57,498
 
At 31 July 2020 407,456 58,450 12,780 15,527 24,704 22,400 541,317
        
       
Depreciation
At 1 August 2019 28,585 543 7,801 14,864 –  –  51,793
Charge for the year 3,393 20 201 221 –  –  3,835

At 31 July 2020 31,978 563 8,002 15,085 –  –  55,628
 
Net book value
At 31 July 2020 375,478 57,887 4,778 442 24,704 22,400 485,689

At 31 July 2019 376,860 27,907 4,435 424 – 22,400 432,026

University
Cost and valuation  
At 1 August 2019 405,775 28,450 12,236 14,958 – 22,400 483,819
Additions  2,011 30,000 544 239 24,704 – 57,498
 
At 31 July 2020 407,786 58,450 12,780 15,197 24,704 22,400 541,317
        
       
Depreciation
At 1 August 2019 28,585 543 7,801 14,534 – – 51,463
Charge for the year 3,393 20 201 221 – –  3,835

At 31 July 2020 31,978 563 8,002 14,755 – – 55,298

Net book value
At 31 July 2020 375,808 57,887 4,778 442 24,704 22,400 486,019
       
At 31 July 2019 377,190 27,907 4,435 424 – 22,400 432,356

At 31 July 2020, freehold land and buildings included £46.7m (2019 – £46.7m) in respect of freehold land that is not depreciated.
At 31 July 2020, long leasehold and buildings included £57.3m (2019 – £27.3m) in respect of long leasehold land that is not 
depreciated.

Commitments for future capital investments as of 31 July 2020 totalled approximately £61m, all of which we expect to incur 
throughout the year 2020–21.

Freehold 
Land and 
Property

£’000

Long  
Leasehold 
Land and 
 Property

£’000

Short  
Leasehold 

Property
£’000

Fixtures, 
Fittings and 
Equipment

£’000

Assets in the 
Course of  

Construction
£’000

Heritage  
assets
£’000

Total
£’000 
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12. Heritage assets

Heritage assets are measured at valuation as explained below. There have been no additions or disposals since 2010:

The University owns a sculpture by Henry Moore (1898 – 1986): Two-Piece Reclining Figure No.1, (1959). The bronze was 
donated to Chelsea School of Art in 1963 after a purpose-built school was opened on Manresa Road. The discussions 
surrounding the donation of the sculpture from Henry Moore are detailed in minutes of the Governors’ meetings in 
1963 – 1964. The sculpture represents an important development in Moore’s work, being the first time he separated the 
reclining figure into two pieces. It is currently located at the University’s Millbank site and is accessible to the public. Due 
to the length of time elapsed since acquisition, it has been deemed that the value in 2001 (£2 million), the earliest value 
readily attainable, should be taken as the book value at acquisition. The value of the Henry Moore Sculpture is regularly 
reviewed by a professional valuer every 3 – 5 years for insurance purposes to ensure adequate cover is in place. The 
valuation is based on the probable cost of replacing the item in its current condition with a comparable item in similar 
condition by purchase in the normal retail market at the valuation date. This was last carried out in 2016 – 17 and there is 
no reason to believe the value of the statue has fallen since then. When the statue was last revalued it increased by £2m 
so it is unlikely that any increase in book value this year would be significantly material to the University’s Balance Sheet. 
The total value at 31 July 2020 is £12 million.

In March 2007, extensive archives of the late acclaimed filmmaker Stanley Kubrick (1928 – 1999) were donated to the 
University. The Kubrick Archive contains comprehensive collections of materials relating to film production comprising 
scripts, treatments, drafts, extensive working and research documents, correspondence, costumes, props, models, 
production schedules, photography, books and film equipment. The Archives are housed in a purpose-built Archives and 
Special Collections Centre at the London College of Communication to ensure that the archives are preserved and on 
display for posterity. They are accessible to students, researchers, and the general public by arrangement. The Kubrick 
Archive is included in the balance sheet as a collection based on the insurance value since acquisition. The University 
was able to obtain a value on the Kubrick Archive at the point of donation, although it has not been possible to obtain any 
further valuation on the collection due to the unique nature of it. There is no reason to suspect that the archive has fallen 
in value as Kubrick remains a popular figure in the world of film. The total value at 31 July 2020 is £10.4 million. 

13. Non-current asset investments

 
University Subsidiary companies Other fixed asset investments Total
 £ £ £

At 1 August 2019 203 208 411
Disposals – (87) (87)
 
At 31 July 2020 203 121 324
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14. Stock Notes 2020  2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
     
Catering stocks  51  51  56  56
Retail stocks   434  434  413  413 
  
  485  485  469  469

15. Trade and other receivables  2020  2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables  5,867  5,832  4,560  4,393 
Other receivables  1,098  1,072  1,554  1,515  
Prepayments and accrued income  8,194  8,074  7,240  7,193 
Amounts due from subsidiary companies  –  20  – 84 

  15,159  14,998  13,354  13,185 

16. Current asset investments  2020  2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Short term deposits and investments   4,949  4,949  89,922  89,921 
Financial derivatives – Interest rate caps 23 14   14  27  27

   4,963  4,963  89,949  89,948 

Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Services 
Authority with more than three months maturity at the balance sheet date. The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for the 
duration of the deposit at time of placement.

At 31 July 2020 the weighted average interest rate of these fixed rate deposits was 1.01% per annum and the remaining weighted 
average period for which the interest rate is fixed on these deposits was 62 days. The fair value of these deposits was not 
materially different from the book value.
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17. Cash and cash equivalents
  At 1st August 2019 Cash Flows At 31st July 2020
  £’000 £’000 £’000
 
Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents  172,258 57,393 229,651
 
  172,258 57,393 229,651

18. Creditors : amounts falling due within one year  
  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Secured loans  4,673  4,673  4,673  4,673 
Trade payables  11,902  11,660  12,097  12,009 
Social security and other taxation payable  3,162  3,105  5,274  4,928 
Amounts due to subsidiary companies  – 3,228  – 5,321 
Accruals and deferred income   41,917   40,311  43,634  40,338 
Other creditors   15,243   15,143  9,921  9,763 
 
  76,897   78,120  75,599  77,032 

Deferred income
Deferred income which has been deferred until specific performance related conditions have been met is as follows:    
 
  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
     
Deferred capital grant  1,051  1,051  990  990 
Other deferred income  36,332  35,048  38,673  35,879 

  37,383  36,099  39,663  36,869 
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
 
  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Deferred income – capital grants  18,378 18,378 18,880 18,880
Unsecured loans  77,220 77,220 81,893 81,893

  95,598 95,598 100,773 100,773
 

Analysis of unsecured loans:

Due within one year or on demand  4,673 4,673 4,673 4,673 

Due between one and two years  4,673 4,673 4,673 4,673
Due between two and five years  14,019 14,019 14,019 14,019
Due in five years or more  58,528 58,528 63,201 63,201

Due after more than one year  77,220 77,220 81,893 81,893

Total unsecured loans  81,893 81,893 86,566 86,566
    

The University also has in place a further £120m facility to fund its future capital developments.
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20. Provisions for liabilities 

Consolidated  
At 1 August 2019  1,837   5,046   168,764   175,647   3,897   – 3,897
Movement in year (868)  (397)   116,947   115,682  (293)   2,212 1,919

At 31 July 2020  969   4,649   285,711   291,329   3,604   2,212 5,816

University
At 1 August 2019  1,837   5,046   166,084   172,967   3,897   – 3,897
Movement in year (868)  (397)   111,791   110,526  (293)   2,212 1,919

At 31 July 2020  969   4,649   277,875   283,493   3,604   2,212 5,816

Obligation to  
fund deficit on  

USS Pension 
(Note 27)

£’000

Pension  
enhancements 
on termination 

(Note 27)
£’000

Defined  
Benefit  

Obligations  
(Note 27)

£’000

Total  
Pensions  

Provisions
£’000

Leasehold
Dilapidation

£’000

Legal  
Provision

£’000

Total other  
Provisions 

£’000
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21. Endowment reserves

 Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:

Balances at 1 August 2019
Capital 3,305  538  669  4,512  4,182 
Accumulated income 512  69  13  594  543 

 3,817  607  682  5,106  4,725 

Investment income 75  12  13  100  99 
Expenditure (26) (22) (42) (90) (48)
Increase in market value of investments 50  8  9  67  330 

Total endowment comprehensive income for the year 99  (2) (20) 77  381 

At 31 July 2020 3,916  605  662  5,183  5,106 

Represented by:
Capital 3,355  546  678  4,579  4,512  
Accumulated income 561  59  (16) 604  594 

 3,916  605  662  5,183  5,106 

Analysis by type of purpose:
University Chairs 3,017   –  –  3,017  2,931 
Scholarships, bursaries and prizes  899   606   661  2,166  2,175 
 
 3,916  606  661  5,183  5,106 
 
Analysis by asset 
Current asset investments    4,949  4,922 
Cash and cash equivalents    234  184 

    5,183  5,106 

Restricted  
permanent  

endowments
£’000

 Unrestricted  
permanent  

endowments 
£’000

 Expendable 
endowments 

£’000

2020 
Total

£’000

2019  
Total

£’000
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22. Reserves

Restricted Reserves:
  Capital grants   Donations  2020 Total 2019 Total 
   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 
     
Balances at 1 August 2019  714  1,205  1,919  1,745  
 
New donations  –  786   786  851 
Capital grants released  (188)  –  (188)  (188)
Expenditure   –  (481)  (481)  (489))
 
Total restricted comprehensive income for the year  (188)  305   117  174 
 
At 31 July 2020   526   1,510   2,036  1,919 

 

Analysis of other restricted funds/donations by type of purpose:
    2020 Total 2019 Total 
     £’000   £’000 

Scholarships and bursaries     1,124  965 
Research support     386  240 
Capital grants     526  714 

     2,036  1,919 

Unrestricted reserves:
The University retains its available unrestricted reserves for the purpose of funding future capital projects to which the University 
expects shortly to become committed.
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23. Financial instruments

Interest Rate Cap Agreements

The University has a number of financial instruments to limit its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on loan facilities entered into 
as part of the capital development programme. The caps cover a range of periods over the life of the University’s loan facilities. The 
following Interest Rate Caps were effective as 31 July 2020:

Swap Type Total Notional Amount   Maturity Date  Capped Rate 
 £’000    

Floating to Fixed 60,000 03/05/2022 – 03/05/2024 2.5% – 4.0%

The fair value is determined by the quoted market price provided by the counterparty.

24. Lease obligations

Total rentals payable under operating leases, all relate to land and buildings:

Consolidated and University 31 July 2020 31 July 2019
 £’000 £’000

Payable during the year 22,520 22,547

Future minimum lease payments due:
Not later than 1 year 19,378 23,162 
Later than 1 year and less than 5 years 82,424 79,834 
Later than 5 years 158,666 174,907 

Total lease payments due 260,468 277,903
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25. Subsidiary undertakings    
The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in England & Wales), wholly-owned or effectively controlled by the University, 
are as follows:

Company Principal Activity Status Ordinary shares of £1

UAL Short Courses Limited  Short courses and consultancy 100% owned 100
UAL Ventures Limited International short courses and consultancy 100% owned 2
 
Non-trading subsidiaries are as follows   
London Arts Property Limited  Did not trade 100% owned 1 
UAL Artstemps Limited  Did not trade 100% owned 100

   203

Shares owned by subsidiary entities 
UAL Ventures (China) Did not trade 100% owned by 1 
  UAL Ventures Limited 

   204

26. Connected charitable institutions

Contained within the University’s endowments funds are 4 connected charitable institutions which are administered by or on behalf 
of the University and have been established for its general or special purposes. As a result, under paragraph 28 of Schedule 3 to 
the Charities Act 2011, these connected institutions are exempt from registration with the Charity Commission. These activities are 
included in the Consolidated financial statements and may be analysed as follows:

       Change in Closing 
   Opening balance Income Expenditure  market value balance 
Category of spend   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Consolidated
Bursaries, scholarships and prizes  1,697  35  37  22  1,717  
(2 connected institutions) 
University chairs   2,931  61  – 38  3,030  
(2 connected institutions) 
 
   4,628  96  37  60  4,747 
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27. Pension Schemes

(i) Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS)
 
TPS is typically valued every four years by 
the Government Actuary. Contributions are 
paid by the University at the rate specified 
following a valuation. The Scheme is 
unfunded and contributions are made to 
the Exchequer. The payments from the 
Scheme are made from the funds voted by 
Parliament. The contribution percentage 
of pensionable salaries payable by the 
employer was 16.48% to 31st August 2019 
and 23.68% from 1st September 2019.

The TPS is a multi-employer defined benefit 
pension scheme. The University is unable 
to identify its share of the underlying assets 
and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the 
University has accounted for its contributions 
as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

(ii) The Universities Superannuation 
Scheme (USS)
The Universities’ Superannuation Scheme 
(USS) provides benefits based on final 
pensionable salary. The assets of the 
scheme are held in a separate fund 
administered by the trustee, Universities 
Superannuation Limited.

Because of the mutual nature of the 
scheme, the scheme’s assets are not 
hypothecated to individual Universities and 
a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The 
University is therefore exposed to actuarial 
risks associated with other Universitys’ 
employees and is unable to identify its share 
of the underlying assets and liabilities of the 
scheme on a consistent and reasonable 
basis and therefore, as required by FRS 
102(28), accounts for the scheme as if it were 
a defined contribution scheme.

The contribution rate payable by the 
University to USS s a percentage of 
pensionable salaries. It was 19.50% from 
1st April 2019 and 21.10% from 1st October 
2019. The actuary to USS has confirmed that 
it is appropriate to take the pensions costs in 
the University’s accounts to be equal to the 
actual contributions paid during the year.

As a result, the amount charged to the 
income and expenditure account represents 
the contributions payable to the scheme in 
respect of the accounting period.

A new deficit recovery plan was put in place 
as part of the 2017 valuation and is set out 
in the new Schedule of Contributions dated 
28 January 2019. This requires payment 
of 5% of salaries over the period of 1 April 
2020 to 30 June 2034. In accordance with 
the requirements of FRS 102 and the SORP, 
the University has made a provision for this 
contractual commitment to fund the past 
deficit. In the prior year, the deficit payments 
were 2.1% of salaries up to March 2031.

The University provides for the net present 
value of USS deficit funding contributions 
it is required to make in future years. The 
provision within the accounts at 31st July 
2020 is £969,062 (2019: £1,836,803).

In September 2020 the Trustees of the USS 
pension scheme launched a consultation 
with Universities UK on key aspects of the 
2020 valuation. The proposals indicate that 
there is likely to be a significant increase 
in the fund’s deficit as at 31 March 2020. 
The outcome this is likely to increase the 
employer contributions payable for the small 
number of staff in this scheme, along with 
increasing the deficit recovery liability in 
future years. The result of the valuation and 
ongoing sector consultation is unknown at 
the balance sheet date and is treated as a 
non-adjusting event.
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

(iii) Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and Enhanced TPS Contributions
The LGPS is a funded scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay with the assets held by a number of Pension 
Authorities in separate trustee administered funds. The University is covered by the London Pension Fund Authority.

There are two separate valuations of LGPS schemes as at 31 July 2020. They relate to the University and UAL Short Courses Limited. 
There is also a separate actuarial valuation of enhanced TPS pension entitlements arising from early retirements taken by staff under 
past reorganisation programmes. The information set out below is based on an actuarial valuation as of 31 July 2020 carried out by a 
qualified actuary.

Assumptions 
The financial assumptions used to calculate the schemes’ liabilities under FRS102 are:   
 University UAL Short Courses 
  %pa  %pa
   
Price Inflation (RPI)  3.00 2.80
Price Inflation (CPI)  2.20 2.00 
Rate of increase in salaries  3.20 2.25 
Rate of increase in pensions  2.20 2.00 
Discount rate  1.40 1.50

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to 
the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The average future life 
expectancies at age 65 are summarised below:

 Retiring today Retiring in 20 years
  Male Female Male Female
  Years Years Years Years

LGPS (UAL)  21.5 24.1 22.9 25.6
LGPS (UAL Short Courses)  22.1 24.8 23.0 26.0
TPS Enhanced  21.5 24.1 20.4 24.4
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

 Local Government Pension Scheme – University and  UAL Short Courses Limited

The agreed contribution rates for the period ended 31 July 2020 was 12.06 percent to 31st March 2020 and 15 per cent from  
1st April 2020 for employers and between 5.5 and 12.5 percent for employees throughout future periods.

The University’s share of the scheme assets represents an estimated 4 per cent of the total assets of the LGPS, which are not 
intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant change before they are realised. The present value of 
the scheme’s assets is derived from cash flow projections over long periods and thus inherently uncertain.

Fair value of assets as at  31 July 2020 31 July 2019 31 July 2018
  £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities  160,291 155,794 150,858
Target return funds  70,692 72,616 55,081 
Cash  20,545 16,386 11,414
Infrastructure  27,509 26,047 12,375
Property  20,162 15,082 19,101

Total  299,199 285,925 248,829
 
The actual return on assets was 2% per annum.
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

   Year Ended Year Ended
   31 July 2020 31 July 2019 
   £’000 £’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for LGPS pension:    
Scheme assets   299,199 285,925
Scheme liabilities   (584,910) (454,689)
 
Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability   (285,711) (168,764)
 
 
Amounts charged in other operating expenditure
Current service cost   28,037 22,445 
Past service costs   165 3,557 
Administration expenses   372 323
 
Total operating charge   28,574 26,325
 
Analysis of the amount charged in interest  
and other finance costs 
Interest cost   9,579  10,339  
Interest on assets   (6,125) (6,718)
 
Net charge to other finance costs   3,454 3,621 
 
 
Analysis of charge/(credit) to other comprehensive income for LGPS:  
Change in financial/demographic assumptions   71,568  29,427  
Experience (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligation   21,354  (40) 
Other acturial loss on assets   472  – 
Return on assets less interest   822 (22,666)
 
Total other comprehensive income   94,216  6,721 
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

    At 31 July 2020  At 31 July 2019
   £’000 £’000

Defined benefit obligation    
At the beginning of the year   (454,689) (389,817)
Current service cost    (28,037) (22,445))
Interest cost   (9,579) (10,339)
Change in financial and demographic assumptions   (71,568) (29,427)
Experience (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligation   (21,354) 40 
Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in   5,636  5,461 
Past service costs, including curtailments   (165) (3,557)
Contributions by scheme participants and other employers  (5,274) (4,726)
Unfunded pension payments   120  121 
   
At the end of the year   (584,910) (454,689)
 
 
Fair value of fund assets  
At the begining of the year   285,925 248,829 
Interest on assets   6,125 6,718 
Return on assets less interest   (822) 22,666 
Administration expenses   (372) (323) 
Contributions by employer   9,297  8,890 
Contributions by scheme participants and other employers  5,274  4,726 
Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in   (5,756) (5,581) 
Other acturial loss on assets   (472)  – 
 
At the end of the year   299,199 285,925
 
   

Scheme deficit at the end of the year   (285,711) (168,764)
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

Local Government Pension Scheme – Enhanced pensions – Teachers’ Pensions Scheme
 
  
    Year Ended Year Ended
   31 July 2020 31 July 2019 
   £’000 £’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for TPS enhanced pensions:  
Scheme liabilities   (4,649) (5,046)
 
Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability   (4,649) (5,046)

Analysis of the amount charged to interest and other finance costs 
Interest cost   82  137 

Net charge to finance costs   82  137
   

Analysis of other comprehensive income:   
Change in financial and demographic assumptions   (54) 129 
Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation   2  (179)
  
Total other comprehensive income   (52) (50)

    At 31 July 2020  At 31 July 2019
   £000 £000

Defined benefit obligation 
Deficit at beginning of year   (5,046) (5,396)
Interest cost   (82) (137)
Change in financial assumptions   54  (129)
Experience (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligation   (2) 179 
Unfunded pension payments   427  437 
 
Deficit at end of year   (4,649) (5,046)
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

Interest and other finance costs – net charge in respect of pensions schemes

  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000

LGPS   3,454   3,399  3,621   3,587 
TPS enhanced scheme   82   82  137   137 
USS   30   30  16   16 
     
Total net charge in respect of pension schemes (Note 9)  3,566  3,511  3,774   3,740 

Reconciliation to the balance sheet

  2020 2020 2019 2019
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000

Pension liability (LGPS)  (285,711) (277,875) (168,764) (166,084)
Pension liability (TPS enhanced scheme)  (4,649) (4,649) (5,046) (5,046))
Pension liability (USS)  (969) (969) (1,837) (1,837)
     
Total pension liability  (291,329) (283,493) (175,647) (172,967)
 

28. Consolidated reconciliation of net debt 
  31 July 2020
  £’000

Net funds 1 August 2019 85,692
Movement in cash and cash equivalents 57,393
Other non-cash changes 4,673
Net funds 31 July 2020 147,758

Change in net debt 62,066  

Analysis of net debt:  31 July 2020 31 July 2019
   £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents   229,651  172,258 
Borrowings: amounts falling due within one year
Secured loans  – –
Unsecured loans  (4,673)  (4,673) 
       
   (4,673)  (4,673) 
Borrowings: amounts falling due after more than one year
Unsecured loans  (77,220)  (81,893)

Net funds   147,758   85,692 
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29. Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s 
operations and the composition of the 
Court of Governors (being drawn from local, 
public and private sector organisations), it is 
inevitable that transactions will take place with 
organisations in which a member of the Court 
of Governors may have an interest.

All transactions involving organisations in 
which a member of the Court of Governors 
may have an interest are conducted at arm’s 
length and in accordance with the University’s 
financial regulations and normal procurement 
procedures.

The following related party transactions took 
place during the year. All transactions were 
undertaken on an arm’s-length basis:

Expenditure totalling £6,840 (2019: £6,942) 
was paid to Creative Industries Federation, 
relating to the University’s annual membership 
fee. The entity is related to the University by 
virtue of unremunerated Director, Sir Nigel 
Carrington, being a governor and Vice-
Chancellor of the University.

Expenditure totalling £N/A (2019: £18,804) 
was paid to Thames Water Utilities Limited, 
relating to use of utilities on UAL sites. The 
entity is related to the University by virtue of a 
non-executive director, Lorraine Baldry OBE, 
being a governor of the University (retired as 
UAL Governor on 31 August 2018).

Expenditure totalling £38,017 (2019: £40,396) 
was paid to Universities UK. The entity 
is related to the University by virtue of an 
unremunerated Director, Sir Nigel Carrington, 
being a governor and Vice-Chancellor of  
the University.

Expenditure totalling £57,351 (2019: £62,969) 
was paid to the Advance HE for membership 
subscription fees and HE focused strategic 
advice and services. The entity is related to 
the University by virtue of the unremunerated 
Chair of Advance HE, Sir Nigel Carrington, 
being a governor and Vice-Chancellor of the 
University.

Expenditure totalling £N/A (2019: £16,318) was 
paid to Victoria and Albert Museum, in relation 
to exhibition costs. The entity is related to 
the University by virtue of an unremunerated 
Trustee and Chair of the Audit Committee, 
Andrew Hochhauser QC, being a governor of 
the University (role at the Victoria and Albert 
museum ended on 31 March 2019).

Expenditure totalling £316,477 (2019: 
£282,525) was paid to Pinsent Masons LLP 
relating mainly to legal services. The entity 
is related to the University by virtue of a 
remunerated Partner, David Isaac CBE, being 
the Chair of the Court of Governors of the 
University.

Expenditure totalling £1,716,357 (2019: 
£1,501,826) was paid to UAL Students’ Union, 
relating mainly to a grant payable to support 
their activities. The entity is related to the 
University by virtue of the Union’s Education 
Officer and trustee being a governor of  
the University.

30. Non adjusting Post Balance Sheet Events 
 
No events after the reporting period have had a material effect on the financial statements.
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